

BABEŞ-BOLYAI UNIVERSITY OF CLUJ-NAPOCA DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS AND INFORMATICS

Octavia-Maria NICA (BOLOJAN)

Fixed point methods for nonlinear differential systems with nonlocal conditions

Ph.D. Thesis Summary

Scientific Advisor:

Prof. Dr. Radu PRECUP

Cluj-Napoca 2013 This work was possible with the financial support of the Sectorial Operational Programme for Human Resources Development 2007-2013, co-financed by the European Social Fund, under the project number POSDRU/107/1.5/S/76841 with the title "Modern Doctoral Studies: Internationalization and Interdisciplinarity"

and

with the financial support offered by a Grant of the Romanian National Authority for Scientific Research, CNCS – UEFISCDI, project number PN-II-ID-PCE-2011-3-0094.

Contents

Introduction 7							
1	ries -valued metrics and norms	16 16 17 17					
2	Nor	Nonlocal initial value problems for first order differential systems					
	2.1	2.1 Overview					
	2.2	First o 2.2.1	order differential systems with polylocal conditions	18			
			fixed point theorem	19			
		2.2.2	Nonlinearities with growth at most linear. Application of Schauder's				
			fixed point theorem $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	20			
		2.2.3	More general nonlinearities. Application of the Leray-Schauder prin-				
			ciple	20			
	2.3		onlocal conditions $x(0) = \alpha[x], y(0) = \beta[y] \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	21			
		2.3.1	Existence and uniqueness under Lipschitz conditions	22			
		2.3.2	Existence under at most linear growth conditions	23			
	~ (2.3.3	Existence under more general growth conditions	24			
	2.4		onlocal conditions $x(0) = \alpha[y], y(0) = \beta[x]$	25			
		2.4.1	Problems with Lipschitz conditions	25			
		2.4.2	Problems with growth conditions at most linear	26			
		2.4.3	Problems with more general growth conditions	27			
3	Systems with general coupled nonlocal initial conditions						
	3.1	Overv	iew	29			
	3.2	Existence and uniqueness. The case of Lipschitz nonlinearities					
	3.3	Existence. Nonlinearities with growth at most linear					
	3.4	Existe	nce. Nonlinearities with a more general growth	33			
4	Existence results for second order three-point boundary value problems						
	4.1						
	4.2	Existence results for equations		35			
		4.2.1	Application of Banach's contraction principle	35			
		4.2.2	Application of Schauder's fixed point theorem	35			

	4.3	4.2.3	Application of Boyd-Wong's fixed point theorem					
	4.0	4.3.1	ence results for systems	36				
		4.0.1	fixed point theorem	37				
		4.3.2	Nonlinearities with growth at most linear. Application of Schauder's	57				
		4.0.2	fixed point theorem	37				
	4.4	Faunt	ions on a larger interval					
	4.4	4.4.1	о С					
		4.4.1	Application of Banach's contraction principle					
	4.5		Application of Schauder's fixed point theorem					
	4.0	•	ns on a larger interval	39				
		4.5.1	Nonlinearities with the Lipschitz property. Application of Perov's	10				
		4 5 0	fixed point theorem	40				
		4.5.2	Nonlinearities with growth at most linear. Application of Schauder's	10				
			fixed point theorem	40				
5	Nonlinear nonlocal initial value problems 4							
	5.1	1 Overview						
	5.2	Existence and uniqueness						
	5.3		ence results					
6	Impulsive systems with nonlocal initial conditions							
	6.1	Overv	iew	45				
	6.2	An ex	istence and uniqueness result	45				
	6.3	An ex	istence result	47				
Bi	Bibliography							

Introduction

The purpose of the present thesis is to study nonlinear differential systems with nonlocal conditions. We shall obtain existence and uniqueness results based on an operator approach that uses fixed point theorems.

The vector operator method

We shall apply the fixed point principles of Perov (a vector version of Banach's contraction principle), Schauder and Leray-Schauder. To this aim, the nonlocal problems will be expressed as fixed point equations of the type

$$u = T(u), \tag{1}$$

for some nonlinear operators T. Thus, a key element is represented by the specific expression of the corresponding operator T. In fact, in this thesis, equation (1) has a vector structure, namely

$$\begin{cases} x = T_1(x, y) \\ y = T_2(x, y), \end{cases}$$

where u = (x, y), $T = (T_1, T_2)$, which allows the two terms T_1, T_2 to behave differently one from the other and also with respect to the two variables. This requires the use of matrices instead of constants, when Lipschitz, growth, or "a priori" boundedness conditions are imposed to T_1 and T_2 . Correspondingly, the use of vector-valued norms is necessary. We note that we can easily generalize the approach of 2-dimensional systems to the *n*-dimensional case.

Historically, it was A.I. Perov who in 1964 [63] gave a vector version to Banach's contraction principle and applied it to differential systems, showing the advantage of matrices that are convergent to zero and of vector-valued metrics. More recently, R. Precup [65] showed that this method can be put in connection to other principles of nonlinear analysis, such as Schauder's, Leray-Schauder's and Krasnoselskii's theorems. Here, the author also explained that the use of vector-valued norms and, correspondingly of matrices that are convergent to zero, is more appropriate when treating systems of equations. Systems appear in the mathematical modelling of different processes and phenomena from various domains, such as physics, biology, chemistry, engineering, economy etc., when several quantities vary in time and interact.

The nonlocal problems studied in this thesis

First, in Chapter 2, we consider the problem with discrete nonlocal (polylocal) initial

conditions

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = g(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} a_k x(t_k) = 0 \\ y(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \widetilde{a}_k y(t_k) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(a.e. on [0,1])

where t_k are given points with $0 \le t_1 \le t_2 \le \dots \le t_m < 1$.

Then, instead of discrete conditions we shall consider nonlocal conditions given by two linear and continuous functionals, $\alpha, \beta : C[0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$, namely

$$x(0) = \alpha[x], \quad y(0) = \beta[y] \quad (\text{uncoupled conditions})$$

and also

$$x(0) = \alpha[y], \quad y(0) = \beta[x] \quad (\text{coupled conditions})$$

In Chapter 3, we deal with the *n*-dimensional case and the general coupled linear condition

$$u\left(0\right) = \alpha\left[u\right],$$

where $u = (u_1, u_2, ..., u_n)$ and $\alpha : C([0,1], \mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$, while in Chapter 4 we discuss second-order differential equations and systems of the form

$$\begin{cases} u''(t) = f(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ v''(t) = g(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ u(0) = 0, \ u(t_0) = \phi(u(\eta), v(\eta)) \\ v(0) = 0, \ v(t_0) = \psi(u(\eta), v(\eta)). \end{cases}$$

 $(t \in [0, 1])$, under nonlocal conditions on three points $0, \eta, t_0$.

The methods are then addapted in Chapter 5 in order to discuss the problem

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(0) = \alpha[x, y] \\ y(0) = \beta[x, y] \end{cases}, \quad t \in [0, 1]$$

with nonlocal conditions given by nonlinear functionals $\alpha, \beta : C[0,1]^2 \to \mathbb{R}$. Here, the nonlinear operators T_1, T_2 will act on the product space $(C[0,1] \times \mathbb{R})^2$ embedding in this way the nonlinear conditions.

The methodology that we use throughout this work is finally applied in Chapter 6 to a special class of problems, namely to impulsive systems of the form

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ \Delta x|_{t=t_0} = I_1(x(t_0)), \quad \Delta y|_{t=t_0} = I_2(y(t_0)), \\ x(0) = \alpha_1[x], \qquad y(0) = \alpha_2[y], \end{cases} \quad t \in (0, 1), \ t \neq t_0$$

Here $t_0 \in (0,1)$ and $\Delta v|_{t=t_0}$ denotes the "jump" of the function v in $t = t_0$, that is $\Delta v|_{t=t_0} = v(t_0^+) - v(t_0^-)$, where $v(t_0^-), v(t_0^+)$ are the left and the right limits of v in $t = t_0$.

Nonlocal conditions

The motivation for the study of nonlocal problems is that a nonlocal Cauchy problem has better effect in applications than the classical Cauchy problem since it is usually more precise for physical measurements. Also, the mathematical modeling of real processes, such as heat, fluid, chemical or biological flow, where nonlocal conditions can be seen as feedback controls, have brought into attention the treatment of nonlocal initial value problems.

The study of abstract nonlocal semilinear initial-value problems was initiated by L. Byszewski [19, 20], L. Byszewski and V. Lakshmikantham [21] and afterwards has been continued in many other papers: S. Aizicovici and Y. Gao [3], S. Aizicovici and M. McKibben [5], J. Liang, J.H. Liu and T. Xiao [46], J.H. Liu [47], S.K. Ntouyas and P.Ch. Tsamatos [58] and references therein. As remarked in L. Byszewski [20], nonlocal problems occur naturally when modelling physical problems, for example thermostats G. Infante and J.R.L. Webb [40], beams J.R.L. Webb and G. Infante [76, 77] and suspension bridges G. Infante, F.M. Minhós and P. Pietramala [36]. A unified method for establishing the existence and multiplicity of positive solutions for a large number of nonlinear differential equations of arbitrary order with any allowed number of non-local boundary conditions was given in J.R.L. Webb and G. Infante [76, 77]. Also, other discussions about the importance of nonlocal conditions in different areas of applications, examples of problems with nonlocal conditions and references to other works dealing with nonlocal problems can be found in H.-K. Han and J.-Y. Park [34], D. Jackson [41], H.C. Lee [45] and the references therein.

Many authors have studied different types of nonlocal problems mainly with multipoint boundary conditions (see, for example A. Boucherif and R. Precup [17], A.M.A. El-Sayed, E.O. Bin-Taher [27], O. Nica and R. Precup [52], S.K. Ntouyas [59] and rerefences therein for first order differential equations, S.K. Ntouyas [59], R.P. Agarwal, D. O'Regan and S. Staněk [2], C.P. Gupta, S.K. Ntouyas and P.Ch. Tsamatos [33], G. Infante [35], R. Ma [50], S. Staněk [71] for second-order equations, or M. Eggensperger and N. Kosmatov [26], J.R.L. Webb, G. Infante and D. Franco [80] for higher order equations. Initial value problems involving boundary conditions given by linear and continuous functionals, or equivalently, by Stieltjes integrals were studied, for example, in G. Infante [35], G.L. Karakostats and P.Ch. Tsamatos [42], O. Nica [53, 55], J.R.L Webb and G. Infante [78], J.R.L. Webb, G. Infante and D. Franco [80].

We also mention some other papers on nonlocal problems for several classes of differential equations and systems: S. Aizicovici and H. Lee [4], M. Benchohra and A. Boucherif [7], M. Benchohra, E.P. Gatsori, L. Gorniewicz and S.K. Ntouyas [8], O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and R. Precup [11], O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and R. Precup [12], A. Boucherif [14]-[16], A. Boucherif and R. Precup [18], G. Infante and P. Pietramala [37, 38], G. Infante and J.R.L. Webb [40], G.L. Karakostas and P.Ch. Tsamatos [42], O. Nica [54], S.K. Ntouyas [59], R. Precup [64], R. Precup and D. Trif [66], J.R.L. Webb [74], J.R.L. Webb and G. Infante [75], J.R.L. Webb and K.Q. Lan [79], X. Xue [81, 82] and Z. Yang [83].

Structure of the thesis

The thesis is divided into six chapters, each chapter being organized in several sections. **Chapter 1** is entirely dedicated in presenting some preliminary notions, results and notations that we need throughout this work. Here, in Section 1.1 we introduce the concepts of vector-valued metric and vector-valued norm, while in Section 1.2 we present another essential tool for our investigation, namely the notion of convergent to zero matrix. Next, in Section 1.3, we recall the classical fixed point principles of Perov, Schauder and Leray-Schauder that we will apply frequently in this thesis. Other auxiliary results will be also presented in the subsequent chapters.

In **Chapter 2** we discuss three types of nonlocal initial value problems for first order differential systems. Section 2.1 contains an overview of the chapter, where we explain the contents of each section and we present the main tools and methods that are used.

Motivated by the paper A. Boucherif and R. Precup [17], in Section 2.2 we deal with the nonlocal initial value problem for the first order differential system

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = g(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(0) + \sum_{\substack{k=1 \\ m \ m}}^{m} a_k x(t_k) = 0 \\ y(0) + \sum_{\substack{k=1 \\ m}}^{m} \widetilde{a}_k y(t_k) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(a.e. on [0, 1])

where $f, g: [0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are Carathéodory functions, t_k are given points with $0 \leq t_1 \leq t_2 \leq \ldots \leq t_m < 1$ and a_k, \tilde{a}_k are real numbers with $1 + \sum_{k=1}^m a_k \neq 0$ and $1 + \sum_{k=1}^m \tilde{a}_k \neq 0$. Section 2.2 contains three subsections, each one being dedicated to the study of the existence of solutions for the problem above. The proofs will rely on the Perov, Schauder and Leray-Schauder fixed point principles which are applied to a nonlinear integral operator splitted into two parts, one of Fredholm type for the subinterval containing the points involved by the nonlocal condition, and another one of Volterra type for the rest of the interval. Vector-valued norms and convergent to zero matrices play a key role in this approach.

In Section 2.3 and Section 2.4, we extend the ideas of Section 2.2 by considering that the nonlocal initial conditions are expressed, more general, by linear continuous functionals, as in the works of J.R.L. Webb [74], J.R.L. Webb and G. Infante [75, 76, 77], J.R.L. Webb and K.Q. Lan [79]. Therefore, in Section 2.3 we discuss the nonlocal initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(0) = \alpha[x] \\ y(0) = \beta[y], \end{cases}$$
(a.e. on [0,1])

while in Section 2.4 we study the problem

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(0) = \alpha[y] \\ y(0) = \beta[x], \end{cases}$$
(a.e. on [0,1])

where $f_1, f_2 : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are also Carathéodory functions and $\alpha, \beta : C[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ are linear continuous functionals such that $1 - \alpha[1] \neq 0$ and $1 - \beta[1] \neq 0$, in the first case, and $1 - \alpha[1]\beta[1] \neq 0$, in the second case. Each one of the Sections 2.3 and 2.4 is divided into three subsections. Here, the existence and uniqueness results are first obtained under Lipschitz or growth conditions given on the whole interval [0, 1], and after that, in the second part of each subsection, under similar conditions given differently on two subintervals $[0, t_0]$ and $[t_0, 1]$. In the second case, the nonlinear integral operator associated to the problem splits into two parts, one of Fredholm type and the other one of Volterra type, which is reflected on the nonlinearities behaviour.

The main results of Section 2.2 are: Theorem 2.2.1, which represents an existence and uniqueness result, as an application of Perov's fixed point theorem; Theorem 2.2.2 and Theorem 2.2.3, two existence theorems which follow from Schauder's and Leray-Schauder's fixed point principle, respectively. The results from this section have been published in the paper O. Nica and R. Precup [52].

The most relevant results in Section 2.3 are: Theorem 2.3.1 and Theorem 2.3.2, two existence and uniqueness theorems that use Perov's fixed point principle; Theorem 2.3.4 and Theorem 2.3.5, which are existence results based on Schauder's fixed point theorem; Theorem 2.3.7 and Theorem 2.3.8, two existence theorems which are applications of Leray-Schauder's principle; Example 2.3.3 and Example 2.3.6 which represent two illustrations of the theory. Most part of these results can be found in the papers O. Nica [53, 55].

Our main contributions in Section 2.4 are: Theorem 2.4.1 and Theorem 2.4.2 of existence and uniqueness; Theorem 2.4.4, Theorem 2.4.5, Theorem 2.4.7, Theorem 2.4.8 of existence; Example 2.4.3 and Example 2.4.6, numerical applications of the theoretical results.

Chapter 3 extends to the general case the results from Chapter 2. More exactly, we consider the *n*-dimensional system

$$\begin{cases} u_{1}'(t) = f_{1}(t, u_{1}(t), u_{2}(t), ..., u_{n}(t)), \\ u_{2}'(t) = f_{2}(t, u_{1}(t), u_{2}(t), ..., u_{n}(t)), \\ ... \\ u_{n}'(t) = f_{n}(t, u_{1}(t), u_{2}(t), ..., u_{n}(t)), \end{cases}$$

for a.e. t in [0, 1], subject to the coupled nonlocal conditions

$$\begin{cases} u_1(0) = \alpha_{11}[u_1] + \alpha_{12}[u_2] + \dots + \alpha_{1n}[u_n], \\ u_2(0) = \alpha_{21}[u_1] + \alpha_{22}[u_2] + \dots + \alpha_{2n}[u_n], \\ \dots \\ u_n(0) = \alpha_{n1}[u_1] + \alpha_{n2}[u_2] + \dots + \alpha_{nn}[u_n]. \end{cases}$$

Here $f_1, f_2, ..., f_n : [0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ are L^1 -Carathéodory functions and $\alpha_{ij} : C[0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}, i, j = 1, 2, ..., n$ are linear continuous functionals. The problem can be rewritten in the vector form

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = f(t, u(t)), & \text{a.e. on } [0, 1], \\ u(0) = \alpha [u], \end{cases}$$

where $u = (u_1, u_2, ..., u_n), f = (f_1, f_2, ..., f_n)$, and

$$\alpha [u] = (\alpha_1 [u], \alpha_2 [u], ..., \alpha_n [u]),$$

$$\alpha_i [u] = \alpha_{i1}[u_1] + \alpha_{i2}[u_2] + \dots + \alpha_{in} [u_n] \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n)$$

Clearly, in this case α is a linear continuous mapping from $C([0,1], \mathbb{R}^n)$ to \mathbb{R}^n . This chapter contains four sections. After an overview given in Section 3.1, we present the existence results based on the fixed point theorems of Perov, Schauder and Leray-Schauder, in Section 3.2, Section 3.3 and Section 3.4, respectively.

The main results in this chapter are: Theorem 3.2.1, Theorem 3.3.1 and Theorem

3.4.1; Example 3.2.2 and Example 3.3.2 that present two numerical applications. These contributions can be found in the paper O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and R. Precup [11].

Chapter 4 is devoted to the study of second order differential equations and systems with nonlinear three-point boundary conditions. The chapter is divided into five sections as follows. An overview on the problems and the contents of the chaper is given in Section 4.1. Then, motivated by the paper of E.V. Castelani and T.F. Ma [23], in Section 4.2, we start our work by studying the three-point boundary value problem for second order differential equations

$$\begin{cases} u'' = f(t, u, u') \\ u(0) = 0, u(t_0) = g(u(\eta)), \end{cases} \quad 0 < t < t_0$$

where $0 < \eta < t_0 < 1$ and f, g are continuous functions. In Section 4.3, we give existence results for second-order differential systems

$$\begin{cases} u''(t) = f(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ v''(t) = g(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ u(0) = 0, \ u(t_0) = \phi(u(\eta), v(\eta)) \\ v(0) = 0, \ v(t_0) = \psi(u(\eta), v(\eta)) \end{cases}$$

on a given interval $[0, t_0]$. In Section 4.4 we study the problem from Section 4.2 on the larger interval [0, 1], namely

$$\begin{cases} u'' = f(t, u, u') \\ u(0) = 0, \ u(t_0) = g(u(\eta)), \end{cases}$$

when $t_0 < 1$. Finally, in Section 4.5, a similar strategy is applied to a system of two second order differential equations. The main results from this chapter are: Theorem 4.2.1, Theorem 4.2.2, Theorem 4.2.4 and Theorem 4.3.1, Theorem 4.3.2, existence results on $[0, t_0]$ for equations and systems, respectively; Theorem 4.4.1, Theorem 4.4.2, Theorem 4.4.3, Theorem 4.4.4 and Theorem 4.5.1, Theorem 4.5.2, Theorem 4.5.3, Theorem 4.5.4, existence results for equations and systems on [0, 1]. The results from this chapter appear in the paper O. Nica [54].

The purpose of **Chapter 5** is to study the existence of solutions to the nonlocal initial value problem for a first order differential system, with nonlinear nonlocal conditions

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(0) = \alpha[x, y] \\ y(0) = \beta[x, y]. \end{cases}, \quad t \in [0, 1]$$

Here $f_1, f_2 : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are continuous functions, while $\alpha, \beta : C[0,1]^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are nonlinear continuous functionals. The existence results are established by means of Perov, Schauder and Leray-Schauder fixed point principles combined with the technique based on vector-valued metrics and convergent to zero matrices. The main contributions here are as follows: Theorem 5.2.1, which represents an existence and uniqueness result based on Perov's fixed point principle; Theorem 5.3.1 and Theorem 5.3.3, two existence results given as direct application of Schauder and Leray-Schauder theorems, respectively; Example 5.2.2 and Example 5.3.2, two numerical applications that illustrate the results given by Theorem 5.2.1 and Theorem 5.3.1. These results are part of the work O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and R. Precup [13].

The methods that we mainly used in previous chapters are next addapted in **Chapter 6** to the case of impulsive systems with nonlocal initial conditions expressed by means of linear continuous functionals given by Stieltjes integrals

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)), \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)), \\ \Delta x|_{t=t_0} = I_1(x(t_0)), \quad \Delta y|_{t=t_0} = I_2(y(t_0)), \\ x(0) = \alpha_1[x], \quad y(0) = \alpha_2[y]. \end{cases} \quad t \in (0, 1), \ t \neq t_0.$$

Here $t_0 \in (0,1)$ and $\Delta v|_{t=t_0}$ denotes the "jump" of the function v in $t = t_0$, that is $\Delta v|_{t=t_0} = v(t_0^+) - v(t_0^-)$, where $v(t_0^-), v(t_0^+)$ are the left and the right limits of v in $t = t_0$. The chapter is divided into four sections. After a general overview in Section 6.1, Section 6.2 presents an existence and uniqueness result by applying the fixed point principle of Perov, while in Section 6.3 we provide an existence result as a consequence of Schauder's fixed point theorem. The existence principles that we apply are completed by the technique based on vector-valued norms and matrices that are convergent to zero. Our contributions in this chapter are as follows: Theorem 6.2.1, an existence and uniqueness theorem; Theorem 6.3.1 of existence; Example 6.2.2 and Example 6.3.2. These results are included in the paper O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and P. Pietramala [12].

Some ideas for further work

The methods that we have used throughout the thesis can be applied to other classes of problems, for instance, to systems of evolution equations of the type

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) + A_1 x(t) = f_1 (t, x (t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) + A_2 y(t) = f_2 (t, x (t), y(t)) \\ x (0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} a_k x(t_k) = 0 \\ y (0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \widetilde{a}_k y(t_k) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Here the linear operator $-A_i : D(A_i) \subseteq X_i \to X_i$ generates a strongly continuous semigroup of contractions $\{S_i(t), t \ge 0\}$ on a Banach space $(X_i, |.|_{X_i})$, for i = 1, 2. In particular, we can consider systems of parabolic and hyperbolic equations.

Another idea is to use a vector version of Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem for the sum of two operators (see A. Viorel [73]) together with the method that uses convergent to zero matrices, in order to treat more complicated nonlocal problems, for instance, the problem

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = g_1(t, x(t), y(t)) + h_1(t, x'(t), y'(t)) \\ y'(t) = g_2(t, x(t), y(t)) + h_2(t, x'(t), y'(t)) \\ x(0) = \alpha[x] \\ y(0) = \beta[y], \end{cases}$$

where $g_i, h_i : [0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are Carathéodory functions and $\alpha, \beta : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ are linear continuous functionals. Of course, all the other problems studied in this work could be generalized this way.

Author's research activity

Most of the results in this thesis are part of the following papers/manuscripts:

- O. Nica and R. Precup, On the nonlocal initial value problem for first order differential systems, Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 56 (2011), No. 3, 125–137.
- O. Nica, Initial-value problems for first-order differential systems with general nonlocal conditions, Electron. J. Differential Equations 2012 (2012), No. 74, 1–15.
- O. Nica, Existence results for second order three-point boundary value problems, Differ. Equ. Appl. 4 (2012), 547–570.
- O. Nica, Nonlocal initial value problems for first order differential systems, Fixed Point Theory 13 (2012), 603–612.
- O. Nica, Extensions of the Leray-Schauder Principle for integral systems, An. Univ. Oradea Fasc. Mat. 9 (2012), No. 2, 63-81.
- O. Nica, A fixed point approach to first order differential equations and systems, Ann. Tiberiu Popoviciu Semin. Funct. Equ. Approx. Convexity 10 (2012), 141-153.
- O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante, R. Precup, Existence results for systems with coupled nonlocal initial conditions, Nonlinear Anal. 94 (2014), 231-242.
- O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante, P. Pietramala, Existence results for impulsive systems with initial nonlocal conditions, Math. Model. Anal., to appear.
- O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante, R. Precup, Existence results for systems with coupled nonlocal nonlinear initial conditions, submitted.

Part of the results was presented at the following scientific conferences, workshops and meetings:

- International Conference on Sciences (ICS), November 11-12, 2011, Oradea, Romania.
- International Conference of Nonlinear Operators, Differential Equations and Applications (ICNODEA), July 5-8, 2011, Cluj-Napoca, Romania.
- The Fifth International Workshop 2012 "Constructive Methods for Non-Linear Boundary Value Problems", June 28-July 1, 2012, Tokaj, Hungary.
- 6th European Congress of Mathematics (6ECM), July 2-6, 2012, Krakow, Poland.
- 10th International Conference on Fixed Point Theory and its Applications (IC-FPTAC), July 9-15, 2012, Cluj-Napoca, Romania.
- Research Seminar of the Department of Mathematics, October 22, 2012, University of Calabria, Cosenza, Italy.

- A treia sesiune națională de comunicări științifice a doctoranzilor, June 10-16, 2013, Timișoara, Romania.
- The Fourteenth International Conference on Applied Mathematics Computer Science and Mechanics, "Theodor Angheluță" Seminar, August 29-31, 2013, Cluj-Napoca, Romania.

Acknowledgements

The author wishes to express her gratitude to her Ph.D. supervisor, Professor Radu Precup, for all his work, constant support, patience and guidance that made this research project possible. Many thanks are adressed to all members of the Group of Differential Equations, for their kind help and many fruitful discussions during the Ph.D. program and during the research seminars. Special thanks are addressed to Professor Gennaro Infante and Professor Paola Pietramala for their scientific informations and advices, constant guidance during the research stage at University of Calabria, Cosenza, Italy, and also to the members of the Department of Mathematics of the University of Calabria, for their involvement.

Keywords: Nonlinear differential equation; differential system; initial value problem; boundary value problem; impulsive differential equation; nonlocal condition; fixed point; contraction; compact mapping; vector-valued norm; matrix convergent to zero.

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

In this chapter we give some preliminary notions and results that we use throughout the PhD thesis. Vector-valued metrics and norms, convergent to zero matrices and the fixed point principles of Perov, Schauder and Leray-Schauder are the main tools in our work.

1.1 Vector-valued metrics and norms

Definition 1.1.1 Let X be a nonempty set. By a vector-valued metric on X we mean a mapping $d: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}^n$ such that

- (i) $d(x,y) \ge 0$ for all $x, y \in X$ and d(x,y) = 0 if and only if x = y;
- (ii) d(x,y) = d(y,x) for all $x, y \in X$;
- (iii) $d(x,y) \leq d(x,z) + d(z,y)$ for all $x, y, z \in X$ with respect to the natural order relation of \mathbb{R}^n . More exactly, if $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n), y = (y_1, y_2, ..., y_n)$, by $x \leq y$ we mean $x_i \leq y_i$ for i = 1, 2, ..., n.

We call the pair (X, d) a generalized metric space.

Definition 1.1.2 Let X be a linear space. A mapping $\|\cdot\| : X \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is called a vectorvalued norm if

- (i) $||x|| \ge 0$ for all $x \in X$ and ||x|| = 0 if and only if x = 0;
- (*ii*) $\|\lambda x\| = |\lambda| \|x\|$ for all $x \in X$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$;
- (iii) $||x + y|| \le ||x|| + ||y||$ for all $x, y \in X$.

Obviously, every linear space endowed with a vector-valued norm is a generalized metric space with the vector-valued metric

$$d(x,y) = \|x - y\|.$$

1.2 Convergent to zero matrices

Definition 1.2.1 A square matrix $M \in M_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with nonnegative elements is said to be convergent to zero if

$$M^k \to 0$$
 as $k \to \infty$.

Lemma 1.2.2 Let $M \in M_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be a square matrix of nonnegative numbers. The following statements are equivalent:

- (i) M is a matrix that is convergent to zero;
- (ii) I M is nonsingular and $(I M)^{-1} = I + M + M^2 + ...$ (where I stands for the unit matrix of the same order as M);
- (iii) the eigenvalues of M are located inside the unit disc of the complex plane;
- (iv) I M is nonsingular and $(I M)^{-1}$ has nonnegative elements.

Lemma 1.2.3 If A is a square matrix which is convergent to zero and the elements of an other square matrix B are small enough, then A + B is also convergent to zero.

Definition 1.2.4 An operator $T: X \to X$ is said to be a generalized contraction (with respect to the vector-valued metric d on X) if there exists a convergent to zero matrix M such that

$$d(T(u), T(v)) \le M d(u, v)$$
 for all $u, v \in X$.

1.3 Fixed point theorems

Theorem 1.3.1 (Banach Contraction Principle) Let (K, d) be a complete metric space. Suppose that $T: K \to K$ is a contraction, i.e. there is $\rho \in [0, 1)$ such that

$$d(T(x), T(y)) \le \rho d(x, y),$$

for all $x, y \in K$. Then T has a unique fixed point x^* and for any $x \in K$, one has

$$d(T^k(x), x^*) \le \frac{\rho^k}{1-\rho} d(x, T(x)), \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Theorem 1.3.2 (Perov) Let (X, d) be a complete generalized metric space and $T : X \to X$ a generalized contraction with Lipschitz matrix M. Then T has a unique fixed point x^* and for each $x \in X$ we have

$$d(T^{k}(x), x^{*}) \leq M^{k}(I - M)^{-1}d(x, T(x)), \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Theorem 1.3.3 (Schauder) Let X be a Banach space, $D \subset X$ a nonempty closed bounded convex set and $T : D \to D$ a completely continuous operator (i.e., T is continuous and T(D) is relatively compact). Then T has at least one fixed point.

Theorem 1.3.4 (Leray–Schauder) Let $(X, |.|_X)$ be a Banach space, R > 0 and $T : \overline{B}_X(0; R) \to X$ a completely continuous operator. If $|u|_X < R$ for every solution u of the equation $u = \lambda T(u)$ and any $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, then T has at least one fixed point.

Chapter 2

Nonlocal initial value problems for first order differential systems

2.1 Overview

This chapter is devoted to existence of solutions to initial value problems for nonlinear first order planar differential systems with nonlocal conditions expressed by means of discrete and continuous linear functionals.

2.2 First order differential systems with polylocal conditions

In this section, we deal with the nonlocal initial value problem for the first order differential system of the type

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = g(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} a_k x(t_k) = 0 \\ y(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \widetilde{a}_k y(t_k) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(a.e. on [0,1]) (2.2.1)

Here $f, g: [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are Carathéodory functions, t_k are given points with $0 \le t_1 \le t_2 \le \ldots \le t_m < 1$ and a_k, \tilde{a}_k are real numbers with $1 + \sum_{k=1}^m a_k \ne 0$ and $1 + \sum_{k=1}^m \tilde{a}_k \ne 0$. Notice that the nonhomogeneous nonlocal initial conditions

$$\begin{cases} x(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} a_k x(t_k) = x_0 \\ y(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \tilde{a}_k y(t_k) = y_0 \end{cases}$$

can always be reduced to the homogeneous ones (with $x_0 = y_0 = 0$) by the change of variables $x_1(t) := x(t) - a x_0$ and $y_2(t) := y(t) - \tilde{a} y_0$, where

$$a = \left(1 + \sum_{k=1}^{m} a_k\right)^{-1} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{a} = \left(1 + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \widetilde{a}_k\right)^{-1}.$$
 (2.2.2)

This can be viewed as a fixed point problem in $C[0,1]^2$ for the completely continuous operator $T = (T_1, T_2), T : C[0,1]^2 \to C[0,1]^2$, where T_1 and T_2 are given by

$$T_1(x,y)(t) = -a \sum_{k=1}^m a_k \int_0^{t_k} f(s, x(s), y(s)) \, ds + \int_0^t f(s, x(s), y(s)) \, ds,$$

$$T_2(x,y)(t) = -\tilde{a} \sum_{k=1}^m \tilde{a}_k \int_0^{t_k} g(s, x(s), y(s)) \, ds + \int_0^t g(s, x(s), y(s)) \, ds.$$

Operators T_1 and T_2 appear as sums of two integral operators, one of Fredholm type, whose values depend only on the restrictions of functions to $[0, t_m]$, and the other one, a Volterra type operator depending on the restrictions to $[t_m, 1]$, as this was pointed out in A. Boucherif and R. Precup [17]. Thus, T_1 can be rewritten as $T_1 = T_{F_1} + T_{V_1}$, where

$$T_{F_1}(x,y)(t) = \begin{cases} -a\sum_{k=1}^m a_k \int_0^{t_k} f(s,x(s),y(s)) \, ds + \int_0^t f(s,x(s),y(s)) \, ds, & \text{if } t < t_m \\ -a\sum_{k=1}^m a_k \int_0^{t_k} f(s,x(s),y(s)) \, ds + \int_0^{t_m} f(s,x(s),y(s)) \, ds, & \text{if } t \ge t_m \end{cases}$$

and

$$T_{V_1}(x,y)(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } t < t_m \\ \int_{t_m}^t f(s, x(s), y(s)) \, ds, & \text{if } t \ge t_m. \end{cases}$$

Similarly, $T_2 = T_{F_2} + T_{V_2}$, where

$$T_{F_{2}}(x,y)(t) = \begin{cases} -\widetilde{a} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \widetilde{a}_{k} \int_{0}^{t_{k}} g\left(s, x\left(s\right), y(s)\right) ds + \int_{0}^{t} g\left(s, x\left(s\right), y(s)\right) ds, & \text{if } t < t_{m} \\ -\widetilde{a} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \widetilde{a}_{k} \int_{0}^{t_{k}} g\left(s, x\left(s\right), y(s)\right) ds + \int_{0}^{t_{m}} g\left(s, x\left(s\right), y(s)\right) ds, & \text{if } t \ge t_{m} \end{cases}$$

and

$$T_{V_2}(x,y)(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } t < t_m \\ \int_{t_m}^t g(s, x(s), y(s)) \, ds, & \text{if } t \ge t_m \end{cases}$$

2.2.1 Nonlinearities with the Lipschitz property. Application of Perov's fixed point theorem

Here we show that the existence and uniqueness of solutions to problem (2.2.1) follows from Perov's fixed point theorem in case that f, g satisfy Lipschitz conditions in x and y:

$$|f(t,x,y) - f(t,\overline{x},\overline{y})| \le \begin{cases} b_1 |x - \overline{x}| + b_1 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_m] \\ c_1 |x - \overline{x}| + \widetilde{c}_1 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [t_m, 1], \end{cases}$$
(2.2.3)

$$|g(t,x,y) - g(t,\overline{x},\overline{y})| \leq \begin{cases} B_1 |x - \overline{x}| + \widetilde{B}_1 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [0,t_m] \\ C_1 |x - \overline{x}| + \widetilde{C}_1 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [t_m,1] \end{cases}$$
(2.2.4)

for all $x, y, \overline{x}, \overline{y} \in \mathbb{R}$.

In what follows, we denote $A_1 := 1 + |a| \sum_{k=1}^m |a_k|$, $A_2 = 1 + |\widetilde{a}| \sum_{k=1}^m |\widetilde{a}_k|$, where a and \widetilde{a} are given by (2.2.2).

Theorem 2.2.1 If f, g satisfy the Lipschitz conditions (2.2.3), (2.2.4) and the matrix

$$M_0 := \begin{bmatrix} b_1 t_m A_1 & \widetilde{b}_1 t_m A_1 \\ B_1 t_m A_2 & \widetilde{B}_1 t_m A_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.2.5)

is convergent to zero, then problem (2.2.1) has a unique solution.

2.2.2 Nonlinearities with growth at most linear. Application of Schauder's fixed point theorem

Here we show that the existence of solutions to problem (2.2.1) follows from Schauder's fixed point theorem in case that f, g satisfy instead of the Lipschitz conditions, the more relaxed conditions of growth at most linear:

$$|f(t,x,y)| \le \begin{cases} b_1 |x| + \widetilde{b}_1 |y| + d_1, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_m] \\ c_1 |x| + \widetilde{c}_1 |y| + d_2, & \text{if } t \in [t_m, 1], \end{cases}$$
(2.2.6)

$$|g(t, x, y)| \leq \begin{cases} B_1 |x| + \widetilde{B}_1 |y| + D_1, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_m] \\ C_1 |x| + \widetilde{C}_1 |y| + D_2, & \text{if } t \in [t_m, 1], \end{cases}$$
(2.2.7)

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ and some nonnegative coefficients $b_i, c_i, d_i, \tilde{b}_i, \tilde{c}_i, \tilde{d}_i, B_i, C_i, D_i, \tilde{B}_i, \tilde{C}_i, \tilde{D}_i, i = 1, 2.$

Theorem 2.2.2 If f, g satisfy conditions (2.2.6), (2.2.7) and matrix (2.2.5) is convergent to zero, then problem (2.2.1) has at least one solution.

2.2.3 More general nonlinearities. Application of the Leray-Schauder principle

We now consider that nonlinearities f, g satisfy more general growth conditions, namely:

$$|f(t,u)| \le \begin{cases} \omega_1(t,|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [0,t_m] \\ \alpha(t)\beta_1(|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [t_m,1], \end{cases}$$
(2.2.8)

$$|g(t,u)| \le \begin{cases} \omega_2(t,|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [0,t_m] \\ \alpha(t)\beta_2(|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [t_m,1], \end{cases}$$
(2.2.9)

for all $u = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, where by $|u|_e$ we mean the euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^2 . Here ω_1, ω_2 are Carathéodory functions on $[0, t_m] \times \mathbb{R}_+$, nondecreasing in their second argument, $\alpha \in L^1[t_m, 1]$, while $\beta_1, \beta_2 : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are nondecreasing and $1/(\beta_1 + \beta_2) \in L^1_{loc}(0, \infty)$.

Theorem 2.2.3 Assume that conditions (2.2.8), (2.2.9) hold. In addition assume that there exists a positive number R_0 such that for $\rho = (\rho_1, \rho_2) \in (0, \infty)^2$

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\rho_1} \int_0^{t_m} \omega_1(t, |\rho|_e) dt \ge \frac{1}{A_1} \\ \frac{1}{\rho_2} \int_0^{t_m} \omega_2(t, |\rho|_e) dt \ge \frac{1}{A_2} \end{cases} \quad implies \quad |\rho|_e \le R_0 \tag{2.2.10}$$

and

$$\int_{R^*}^{\infty} \frac{d\tau}{\beta_1(\tau) + \beta_2(\tau)} > \int_{t_m}^{1} \alpha(s) ds, \qquad (2.2.11)$$

where $R^* = \left[\left(A_1 \int_0^{t_m} \omega_1(t, R_0) dt \right)^2 + \left(A_2 \int_0^{t_m} \omega_2(t, R_0) dt \right)^2 \right]^{1/2}$. Then problem (2.2.1) has at least one solution.

2.3 The nonlocal conditions $x(0) = \alpha[x], y(0) = \beta[y]$

The goal of Section 2.3 is to extend the results established in Section 2.2 to the case where the nonlocal initial conditions are more generally expressed in terms of two linear continuous functionals on C[0, 1].

More exactly, we deal with the nonlocal initial value problem for the first order differential system of the type

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(0) = \alpha[x] \\ y(0) = \beta[y]. \end{cases}$$
(a.e. on [0, 1]) (2.3.12)

Here $f_1, f_2: [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are Carathéodory functions, $\alpha, \beta: C[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ are linear and continuous functionals such that $1 - \alpha[1] \neq 0$ and $1 - \beta[1] \neq 0$.

This can be viewed as a fixed point problem in $C[0,1]^2$ for the completely continuous operator $T: C[0,1]^2 \to C[0,1]^2$, $T = (T_1,T_2)$, where T_1 and T_2 are given by

$$T_1(x,y)(t) = \frac{1}{1-\alpha[1]} \alpha[g_1] + \int_0^t f_1(s,x(s),y(s)) \, ds,$$

$$T_2(x,y)(t) = \frac{1}{1-\beta[1]} \beta[g_2] + \int_0^t f_2(s,x(s),y(s)) \, ds,$$
(2.3.13)

where $g_1(x, y)(t) := \int_0^t f_1(s, x(s), y(s)) ds$, $g_2(x, y)(t) := \int_0^t f_2(s, x(s), y(s)) ds$. We require the following property:

$$x|_{[0,t_0]} = y|_{[0,t_0]}$$
 implies $\alpha[x-y] = 0$, whenever $x, y \in C[0,1]$. (2.3.14)

Therefore, (2.3.14) reads that the value of functional α on any function x only depends on the restriction of x to the fixed subinterval $[0, t_0]$.

The key property of functional α satisfying (2.3.14) is that

$$|\alpha[x]| \le \|\alpha\| \cdot |x|_{C[0,t_0]}, \qquad (2.3.15)$$

for every $x \in C[0, 1]$.

2.3.1 Existence and uniqueness under Lipschitz conditions

First, we show that the existence and uniqueness of solution to problem (2.3.12) follows from Perov's fixed point theorem in case that f_1, f_2 satisfy the Lipschitz conditions in xand y:

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t,x,y) - f_1(t,\overline{x},\overline{y})| \le a_1 |x - \overline{x}| + b_1 |y - \overline{y}| \\ |f_2(t,x,y) - f_2(t,\overline{x},\overline{y})| \le a_2 |x - \overline{x}| + b_2 |y - \overline{y}|, \end{cases}$$
(2.3.16)

for all $x, y, \overline{x}, \overline{y} \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 2.3.1 If f_1, f_2 satisfy the Lipschitz conditions (2.3.16) and matrix

$$M_{\alpha,\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} a_1 \left(\frac{\|\alpha\|}{|1-\alpha[1]|} + 1 \right) & b_1 \left(\frac{\|\alpha\|}{|1-\alpha[1]|} + 1 \right) \\ a_2 \left(\frac{\|\beta\|}{|1-\beta[1]|} + 1 \right) & b_2 \left(\frac{\|\beta\|}{|1-\beta[1]|} + 1 \right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.3.17)

is convergent to zero, then problem (2.3.12) has a unique solution.

For our second existence and uniqueness result obtained via Perov's fixed point theorem, we shall consider that there is $t_0 \in (0, 1)$ such that nonlinearities f_1, f_2 satisfy different Lipschitz conditions on $[0, t_0]$ and $[t_0, 1]$, respectively:

$$|f_1(t, x, y) - f_1(t, \overline{x}, \overline{y})| \le \begin{cases} a_1 |x - \overline{x}| + b_1 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ a_2 |x - \overline{x}| + b_2 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(2.3.18)

$$|f_{2}(t,x,y) - f_{2}(t,\overline{x},\overline{y})| \leq \begin{cases} A_{1} |x - \overline{x}| + B_{1} |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [0,t_{0}] \\ A_{2} |x - \overline{x}| + B_{2} |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [t_{0},1], \end{cases}$$
(2.3.19)

for all $x, y, \overline{x}, \overline{y} \in \mathbb{R}$.

In what follows we denote $A_{\alpha} := \frac{\|\alpha\|}{|1-\alpha[1]|} + 1$, $B_{\beta} := \frac{\|\beta\|}{|1-\beta[1]|} + 1$.

Theorem 2.3.2 Assume that α, β satisfy (2.3.14). If f_1, f_2 satisfy the Lipschitz conditions (2.3.18), (2.3.19) and the matrix

$$M_0 := \begin{bmatrix} a_1 t_0 A_\alpha & b_1 t_0 A_\alpha \\ A_1 t_0 B_\beta & B_1 t_0 B_\beta \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.3.20)

is convergent to zero, then problem (2.3.12) has a unique solution.

Example 2.3.3 Consider the following nonlocal initial value problem:

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = 0.1 + \frac{1}{4} \frac{y^2(t)}{1+y^2(t)} \sin(2x(t)) \equiv f_1(x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = 0.1 + \frac{2}{3} \frac{y^2(t)}{1+y^2(t)} \cos(2x(t)) \equiv f_2(x(t), y(t)) , \ t \in [0, 40] \\ x(0) = \int_0^{1/2} x(s) ds, \ y(0) = \int_0^{1/2} y(s) ds. \end{cases}$$
(2.3.21)

We have that

$$M_0 = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{32}\\ \frac{4}{3} & \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4} \end{array}\right)$$

whose eigenvalues are $\lambda_1 = 0$, $\lambda_2 = 0.9330...$ Hence M_0 is convergent to zero and Theorem 2.3.2 guarantees that problem (2.3.21) has a unique solution.

2.3.2 Existence under at most linear growth conditions

First, we show that the existence of solutions to problem (2.3.12) follows from Schauder's fixed point theorem in case that f_1, f_2 satisfy instead of the Lipschitz condition, the more relaxed conditions of growth at most linear:

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t, x, y)| \le a_1 |x| + b_1 |y| + c_1 \\ |f_2(t, x, y)| \le a_2 |x| + b_2 |y| + c_2. \end{cases}$$
(2.3.22)

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$.

In this first case, we deal with any two linear functionals α, β (i.e., we do not assume (2.3.14)).

Theorem 2.3.4 If f_1 , f_2 satisfy conditions (2.3.22) and matrix (2.3.17) is convergent to zero, then problem (2.3.12) has at least one solution.

Next, we give another existence result for problem (2.3.12) as an application of Schauder's fixed point theorem in case that f_1 , f_2 satisfy the more relaxed condition of growth at most linear differently, on two subintervals $[0, t_0]$ and $[t_0, 1]$,

$$|f_1(t, x, y)| \le \begin{cases} a_1 |x| + b_1 |y| + c_1, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ a_2 |x| + b_2 |y| + c_2, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(2.3.23)

$$|f_2(t, x, y)| \le \begin{cases} A_1 |x| + B_1 |y| + C_1, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ A_2 |x| + B_2 |y| + C_2, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(2.3.24)

and if the functionals α, β satisfy (2.3.14).

Theorem 2.3.5 If f_1 , f_2 satisfy (2.3.23), (2.3.24) and the matrix (2.3.20) is convergent to zero, then problem (2.3.12) has at least one solution.

Example 2.3.6 Consider the nonlocal initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} x' = -0.9x - 1.8 \frac{xy}{2+x^2} + 90 \equiv f_1(x, y) \\ y' = -0.2y - 1.8 \frac{xy}{2+x^2} + 750 \equiv f_2(x, y) \\ x(0) = \int_0^{1/2} x(s) ds, \ y(0) = \int_0^{1/2} y(s) ds. \end{cases}$$
(2.3.25)

Since $\left|\frac{x}{2+x^2}\right| \le \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4}$, we have

$$M_0 = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0.9 & 0.6364\\ 0 & 0.8364 \end{array}\right).$$

The eigenvalues are $\lambda_1 = 0.9$, $\lambda_2 = 0.8364$ showing that M_0 is convergent to zero. Then, from Theorem 2.3.5, problem (2.3.25) has at least one solution.

2.3.3 Existence under more general growth conditions

We now consider that nonlinearities f_1, f_2 satisfy more general growth conditions on the entire interval [0, 1], namely:

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t,u)| \le \omega_1(t,|u|_e) \\ |f_2(t,u)| \le \omega_2(t,|u|_e) \end{cases}, \quad \text{for } t \in [0,1], \tag{2.3.26}$$

for all $u = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, where by $|u|_e$ we mean the euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^2 . Here, ω_1, ω_2 are Carathéodory functions on $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}_+$, nondecreasing in their second argument.

Theorem 2.3.7 Assume that condition (2.3.26) holds. In addition assume that there exists a positive number R_0 such that for $\rho = (\rho_1, \rho_2) \in (0, \infty)^2$

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\rho_1} \int_0^1 \omega_1(t, |\rho|_e) dt \ge \frac{1}{A_\alpha} \\ \frac{1}{\rho_2} \int_0^1 \omega_2(t, |\rho|_e) dt \ge \frac{1}{B_\beta} \end{cases} \quad implies \quad |\rho|_e \le R_0. \tag{2.3.27}$$

Then problem (2.3.12) has at least one solution.

Then, we suppose that nonlinearities f_1, f_2 satisfy more general growth conditions given differently on $[0, t_0]$ and $[t_0, 1]$, namely:

$$|f_1(t,u)| \le \begin{cases} \omega_1(t,|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [0,t_0] \\ \gamma(t)\beta_1(|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [t_0,1], \end{cases}$$
(2.3.28)

$$|f_2(t,u)| \le \begin{cases} \omega_2(t,|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [0,t_0] \\ \gamma(t)\beta_2(|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [t_0,1], \end{cases}$$
(2.3.29)

for all $u = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$. Here ω_1, ω_2 are Carathéodory functions on $[0, t_0] \times \mathbb{R}_+$, nondecreasing in their second argument, $\gamma \in L^1[t_0, 1]$, while $\beta_1, \beta_2 : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are nondecreasing and $1/(\beta_1 + \beta_2) \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$.

Theorem 2.3.8 Assume that the functionals α, β satisfy (2.3.14) and conditions (2.3.28), (2.3.29) hold. In addition assume that there exists a positive number R_0 such that for $\rho = (\rho_1, \rho_2) \in (0, \infty)^2$

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\rho_1} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_1(t, |\rho|_e) dt \ge \frac{1}{A_\alpha} \\ \frac{1}{\rho_2} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_2(t, |\rho|_e) dt \ge \frac{1}{B_\beta} \end{cases} \quad implies \quad |\rho|_e \le R_0 \tag{2.3.30}$$

and

$$\int_{R^*}^{\infty} \frac{d\tau}{\beta_1(\tau) + \beta_2(\tau)} > \int_{t_0}^{1} \gamma(s) ds, \qquad (2.3.31)$$

where

$$R^* = \left[\left(A_{\alpha} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_1(t, R_0) dt \right)^2 + \left(B_{\beta} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_2(t, R_0) dt \right)^2 \right]^{1/2}.$$

Then problem (2.3.12) has at least one solution.

2.4 The nonlocal conditions $x(0) = \alpha[y], y(0) = \beta[x]$

In this section we introduce in our study coupled nonlocal conditions expressed by linear functionals, namely the conditions

$$x(0) = \alpha[y], \quad y(0) = \beta[x].$$

Therefore, we deal with the nonlocal initial value problem for the first order differential system

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(0) = \alpha[y] \\ y(0) = \beta[x]. \end{cases}$$
(a.e. on [0,1]) (2.4.32)

Here, $f_1, f_2 : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are Carathéodory functions, $\alpha, \beta : C[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ are linear and continuous functionals.

This can be viewed as a fixed point problem in $C[0,1]^2$ for the completely continuous operator $T: C[0,1]^2 \to C[0,1]^2$, $T = (T_1,T_2)$, where T_1 and T_2 are given by

$$T_1(x,y)(t) = \frac{1}{1-\alpha[1]\beta[1]} \left(\alpha[g_2] + \alpha[1]\beta[g_1]\right) + \int_0^t f_1\left(s, x\left(s\right), y(s)\right) ds,$$

$$T_2(x,y)(t) = \frac{1}{1-\alpha[1]\beta[1]} \left(\beta[g_1] + \beta[1]\alpha[g_2]\right) + \int_0^t f_2\left(s, x\left(s\right), y(s)\right) ds.$$

2.4.1 Problems with Lipschitz conditions

Assume that f_1, f_2 satisfy Lipschitz conditions in x and y:

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t, x, y) - f_1(t, \overline{x}, \overline{y})| \le a_1 |x - \overline{x}| + b_1 |y - \overline{y}| \\ |f_2(t, x, y) - f_2(t, \overline{x}, \overline{y})| \le A_1 |x - \overline{x}| + B_1 |y - \overline{y}|, \end{cases}$$
(2.4.33)

for all $x, y, \overline{x}, \overline{y} \in \mathbb{R}$ and denote by

$$\begin{split} A_{\alpha} &:= \frac{1}{|1-\alpha[1]\beta[1]|} \left\| \alpha \right\|, \quad A_{\beta} &:= \frac{|\alpha[1]|}{|1-\alpha[1]\beta[1]|} \left\| \beta \right\|, \\ B_{\alpha} &:= \frac{|\beta[1]|}{|1-\alpha[1]\beta[1]|} \left\| \alpha \right\|, \quad B_{\beta} &:= \frac{1}{|1-\alpha[1]\beta[1]|} \left\| \beta \right\|. \end{split}$$

Theorem 2.4.1 If f_1, f_2 satisfy the Lipschitz conditions (2.4.33) and the matrix

$$M := \begin{bmatrix} A_{\alpha}A_{1} + (A_{\beta} + 1)a_{1} & A_{\alpha}B_{1} + (A_{\beta} + 1)b_{1} \\ B_{\beta}a_{1} + (B_{\alpha} + 1)A_{1} & B_{\beta}b_{1} + (B_{\alpha} + 1)B_{1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.4.34)

is convergent to zero, then problem (2.4.32) has a unique solution.

In case that α, β satisfy condition (2.3.14) for some $t_0 \in (0, 1)$, we can ask different growth conditions for f_1, f_2 , on $[0, t_0]$ and $[t_0, 1]$, respectively:

$$|f_1(t, x, y) - f_1(t, \overline{x}, \overline{y})| \le \begin{cases} a_1 |x - \overline{x}| + b_1 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ a_2 |x - \overline{x}| + b_2 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(2.4.35)

$$|f_{2}(t,x,y) - f_{2}(t,\overline{x},\overline{y})| \leq \begin{cases} A_{1} |x - \overline{x}| + B_{1} |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [0,t_{0}] \\ A_{2} |x - \overline{x}| + B_{2} |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [t_{0},1], \end{cases}$$
(2.4.36)

for all $x, y, \overline{x}, \overline{y} \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 2.4.2 Assume that α, β satisfy condition (2.3.14). If f_1, f_2 satisfy the Lipschitz conditions (2.4.35), (2.4.36) and the matrix

$$M_{0} := \begin{bmatrix} A_{\alpha}A_{1}t_{0} + (A_{\beta}+1)a_{1}t_{0} & A_{\alpha}B_{1}t_{0} + (A_{\beta}+1)b_{1}t_{0} \\ B_{\beta}a_{1}t_{0} + (B_{\alpha}+1)A_{1}t_{0} & B_{\beta}b_{1}t_{0} + (B_{\alpha}+1)B_{1}t_{0} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.4.37)

is convergent to zero, then problem (2.4.32) has a unique solution.

Example 2.4.3 We shall consider the following nonlocal initial value problem:

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = 0.1 + \frac{1}{4} \frac{y^2(t)}{1+y^2(t)} \sin(2x(t)) \equiv f_1(x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = 0.1 + \frac{1}{3} \frac{y^2(t)}{1+y^2(t)} \cos(2x(t)) \equiv f_2(x(t), y(t)) , \ t \in [0, 1] \\ x(0) = \int_0^{1/4} x(s) ds, \ y(0) = \int_0^{1/4} y(s) ds. \end{cases}$$
(2.4.38)

We have that $\alpha [u] = \beta [u] = \int_0^{1/4} u(s) ds$, $\alpha [1] = \beta [1] = \frac{1}{4}$ and $\|\alpha\| = \|\beta\| = \frac{1}{4}$. Also, $t_0 = 1/4$, $A_{\alpha} = B_{\beta} = 4/15$, $A_{\beta} = B_{\alpha} = 1/15$ and

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{8}{45} & \frac{\sqrt{3}}{30} \\ \frac{19}{90} & \frac{19\sqrt{3}}{480} \end{pmatrix}$$

whose eigenvalues are $\lambda_1 = 0$, $\lambda_2 = 0.246338122$. Since both λ_1 and λ_2 are less than 1, matrix M is convergent to zero and Theorem 2.4.2 guarantees the existence of a unique solution for problem (2.4.38).

2.4.2 Problems with growth conditions at most linear

For the first existence result, we shall assume that f_1, f_2 satisfy instead of the Lipschitz condition, the more relaxed condition of at most linear growth, uniformly on the entire interval [0, 1], and that α, β are general linear continuous functionals on C[0, 1]. Thus, assume that

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t, x, y)| \le a_1 |x| + b_1 |y| + c_1, \\ |f_2(t, x, y)| \le A_1 |x| + B_1 |y| + C_1, \end{cases}$$
(2.4.39)

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 2.4.4 If f_1 , f_2 satisfy (2.4.39) and matrix (2.4.34) is convergent to zero, then problem (2.4.32) has at least one solution.

For our second existence result, another application of Schauder's fixed point theorem, we shall impose for nonlinearities f_1, f_2 conditions of growth at most linear that will differ on $[0, t_0]$ and $[t_0, 1]$, respectively:

$$|f_1(t, x, y)| \le \begin{cases} a_1 |x| + b_1 |y| + c_1, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ a_2 |x| + b_2 |y| + c_2, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(2.4.40)

$$|f_2(t, x, y)| \le \begin{cases} A_1 |x| + B_1 |y| + C_1, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ A_2 |x| + B_2 |y| + C_2, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(2.4.41)

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ and some nonnegative coefficients $a_i, b_i, c_i, A_i, B_i, C_i, i = 1, 2$.

Theorem 2.4.5 Assume that α, β satisfy (2.3.14). If f_1, f_2 satisfy (2.4.40), (2.4.41) and the matrix (2.4.37) is convergent to zero, then problem (2.4.32) has at least one solution.

Example 2.4.6 We study the nonlocal problem given by

$$\begin{cases} x' = -0.9x - 1.8\frac{xy}{2+x^2} + 1 \equiv f_1(x, y) \\ y' = -0.2y - 1.8\frac{xy}{2+x^2} + 0.7 \equiv f_2(x, y) \\ x(0) = \int_0^{1/4} x(s) ds \\ y(0) = \int_0^{1/4} y(s) ds. \end{cases}$$
(2.4.42)

We obtain that

$$M = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.24 & 0.08094757079\\ 0.06 & 0.04094757081 \end{array}\right)$$

has the eigenvalues (rounded to the third decimal place) $\lambda_1 = 0.262 < 1$, $\lambda_2 = 0.019 < 1$. This shows that *M* is convergent to zero. Then, from Theorem 2.4.5, problem (2.4.42) has at least one solution.

2.4.3 Problems with more general growth conditions

As we have already seen, the Leray-Schauder theorem guarantees the existence of solutions under more general growth conditions on f_1, f_2 :

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t,u)| \le \omega_1(t,|u|_e) \\ |f_2(t,u)| \le \omega_2(t,|u|_e) \end{cases}$$
(2.4.43)

for all $u = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, where by $|u|_e$ we have ment the euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^2 . As until now, ω_1, ω_2 are Carathéodory functions on $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}_+$, nondecreasing in their second argument.

Theorem 2.4.7 Assume that condition (2.4.43) holds. In addition assume that there exists a positive number R_0 such that for $\rho = (\rho_1, \rho_2) \in (0, \infty)^2$

$$\begin{cases} \frac{A_{\beta}+1}{\rho_1} \int_0^1 \omega_1(t, |\rho|_e) dt + \frac{A_{\alpha}}{\rho_1} \int_0^1 \omega_2(t, |\rho|_e) dt \ge 1\\ \frac{B_{\beta}}{\rho_2} \int_0^1 \omega_1(t, |\rho|_e) dt + \frac{B_{\alpha}+1}{\rho_2} \int_0^1 \omega_2(t, |\rho|_e) dt \ge 1 \end{cases} \quad implies \quad |\rho|_e \le R_0 \tag{2.4.44}$$

Then problem (2.4.32) has at least one solution.

If the functionals α, β satisfy (2.3.14) for some number $t_0 \in (0, 1)$, then we may ask for f_1, f_2 to satisfy general growth conditions, differently on each of the intervals $[0, t_0]$ and $[t_0, 1]$, namely:

$$|f_1(t,u)| \le \begin{cases} \omega_1(t,|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [0,t_0] \\ \gamma(t)\beta_1(|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [t_0,1], \end{cases}$$
(2.4.45)

$$|f_2(t,u)| \le \begin{cases} \omega_2(t,|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [0,t_0] \\ \gamma(t)\beta_2(|u|_e), & \text{if } t \in [t_0,1], \end{cases}$$
(2.4.46)

for all $u = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$. Again, ω_1, ω_2 are Carathéodory functions on $[0, t_0] \times \mathbb{R}_+$, nondecreasing in their second argument, $\gamma \in L^1[t_0, 1]$, while $\beta_1, \beta_2 : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are nondecreasing and $1/(\beta_1 + \beta_2) \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$.

Theorem 2.4.8 Assume that α, β satisfy (2.3.14) and conditions (2.4.45), (2.4.46) hold. In addition assume that there exists a positive number R_0 such that for $\rho = (\rho_1, \rho_2) \in (0, \infty)^2$

$$\begin{cases} \frac{A_{\beta}+1}{\rho_1} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_1(t,|\rho|_e) dt + \frac{A_{\alpha}}{\rho_1} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_2(t,|\rho|_e) dt \ge 1\\ \frac{B_{\beta}}{\rho_2} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_1(t,|\rho|_e) dt + \frac{B_{\alpha}+1}{\rho_2} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_2(t,|\rho|_e) dt \ge 1 \end{cases} \quad implies \quad |\rho|_e \le R_0 \qquad (2.4.47)$$

and

$$\int_{R^*}^{\infty} \frac{d\tau}{\beta_1(\tau) + \beta_2(\tau)} > \int_{t_0}^{1} \gamma(s) ds, \qquad (2.4.48)$$

where

$$R^* = \left\{ \left[(A_{\beta} + 1) \int_0^{t_0} \omega_1(t, R_0) dt + A_{\alpha} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_2(t, R_0) dt \right]^2 + \left[B_{\beta} \int_0^{t_0} \omega_1(t, R_0) dt + (B_{\alpha} + 1) \int_0^{t_0} \omega_2(t, R_0) dt \right]^2 \right\}^{1/2}.$$

Then problem (2.4.32) has at least one solution.

Chapter 3

Systems with general coupled nonlocal initial conditions

3.1 Overview

Having in mind the problems and techniques that have been considered in Chapter 2, in this chapter an existence theory is developed for first-order *n*-dimensional systems with coupled nonlocal conditions given by general linear functionals.

In this chapter, we discuss the first order differential system

$$\begin{cases}
 u_1'(t) = f_1(t, u_1(t), u_2(t), ..., u_n(t)), \\
 u_2'(t) = f_2(t, u_1(t), u_2(t), ..., u_n(t)), \\
 ... \\
 u_n'(t) = f_n(t, u_1(t), u_2(t), ..., u_n(t)),
\end{cases}$$
(3.1.1)

for a.e. t in [0, 1], subject to the coupled nonlocal conditions

$$\begin{cases} u_{1}(0) = \alpha_{11}[u_{1}] + \alpha_{12}[u_{2}] + \dots + \alpha_{1n}[u_{n}], \\ u_{2}(0) = \alpha_{21}[u_{1}] + \alpha_{22}[u_{2}] + \dots + \alpha_{2n}[u_{n}], \\ \dots \\ u_{n}(0) = \alpha_{n1}[u_{1}] + \alpha_{n2}[u_{2}] + \dots + \alpha_{nn}[u_{n}]. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.1.2)$$

Here $f_1, f_2, ..., f_n : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ are L^1 -Carathéodory functions and $\alpha_{ij} : C[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, i, j = 1, 2, ..., n$ are linear and continuous functionals. As was shown in R. Precup and D. Trif [66], the problem (3.1.1)-(3.1.2) is sufficiently general to cover problems related to n^{th} -order ordinary differential equations subject to nonlocal conditions involving the unknown function and its derivatives until order n-1.

The problem (3.1.1)-(3.1.2) can be rewritten in the vector form

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = f(t, u(t)), & \text{a.e. on } [0, 1], \\ u(0) = \alpha [u], \end{cases}$$
(3.1.3)

where $u = (u_1, u_2, ..., u_n), f = (f_1, f_2, ..., f_n)$ and

$$\alpha [u] = (\alpha_1 [u], \ \alpha_2 [u], \ ..., \ \alpha_n [u]), \qquad (3.1.4)$$

$$\alpha_i [u] = \alpha_{i1}[u_1] + \alpha_{i2}[u_2] + \dots + \alpha_{in} [u_n], \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(3.1.5)

Note that α is a linear continuous mapping from $C([0,1],\mathbb{R}^n)$ to \mathbb{R}^n .

We assume that the matrix

$$I - \alpha [1]$$
 is non-singular, (3.1.6)

where I is the unit matrix of order n and by $\alpha[1]$ we mean the square matrix $\alpha[1] := (\alpha_{ij}[1])_{1 \le i,j \le n}$.

Therefore, the problem (3.1.1)-(3.1.2) is equivalent to the integral type equation

$$u(t) = (I - \alpha [1])^{-1} \alpha \left[\int_0^t f(s, u(s)) \, ds \right] + \int_0^t f(s, u(s)) \, ds \tag{3.1.7}$$

in the space $C([0,1], \mathbb{R}^n)$.

Our approach is to seek solutions of the equation (3.1.7) as fixed points of the operator

$$(Tu)(t) = (I - \alpha [1])^{-1} \alpha \left[\int_0^t f(s, u(s)) \, ds \right] + \int_0^t f(s, u(s)) \, ds.$$
(3.1.8)

in the space $C([0,1],\mathbb{R}^n)$. Throughout this chapter we assume that

$$\alpha_{ij} [v] = \int_0^{t_0} v(s) \, dA_{ij}(s) \,, \quad (v \in C [0, 1])$$

for i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, where $t_0 \in [0, 1]$. Note that, in this case,

$$\alpha \left[v \right] = 0 \text{ whenever } v \left(t \right) \equiv 0 \text{ in } \left[0, t_0 \right]. \tag{3.1.9}$$

Under the assumption (3.1.9), the operator T can be written as sum of two operators, one of Fredholm type and the other of Volterra type,

$$T = T_F + T_v,$$

where

$$(T_F u)(t) = \begin{cases} (I - \alpha [1])^{-1} \alpha \left[\int_0^t f(s, u(s)) \, ds \right] + \int_0^t f(s, u(s)) \, ds, & \text{for } 0 \le t \le t_0 \\ (I - \alpha [1])^{-1} \alpha \left[\int_0^t f(s, u(s)) \, ds \right] + \int_0^{t_0} f(s, u(s)) \, ds, & \text{for } t_0 \le t \le 1 \end{cases}$$
$$(T_V u)(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } 0 \le t \le t_0 \\ \int_{t_0}^t f(s, u(s)) \, ds, & \text{for } t_0 \le t \le 1. \end{cases}$$

3.2 Existence and uniqueness. The case of Lipschitz nonlinearities

In this section we assume that the functions $f_1, f_2, ..., f_n$ satisfy Lipschitz conditions of the form

$$|f_{i}(t,u) - f_{i}(t,v)| \leq \begin{cases} a_{i1}(t) |u_{1} - v_{1}| + \dots + a_{in}(t) |u_{n} - v_{n}|, \text{ for } t \in [0, t_{0}], \\ b_{i1}(t) |u_{1} - v_{1}| + \dots + b_{in}(t) |u_{n} - v_{n}|, \text{ for } t \in [t_{0}, 1], \end{cases}$$

$$(3.2.10)$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u = (u_1, u_2, ..., u_n)$, $v = (v_1, v_2, ..., v_n)$, and some functions $a_{ij} \in L^1((0,1); \mathbb{R}_+)$, $b_{ij} \in L^p((0,1); \mathbb{R}_+)$ and $1 <math>(1 \le i, j \le n)$.

Using vector notations we can rewrite the condition (3.2.10) as follows:

$$\|f(t,u) - f(t,v)\| \le \begin{cases} A(t) \|u - v\|, & \text{for } t \in [0,t_0], \\ B(t) \|u - v\|, & \text{for } t \in [t_0,1], \end{cases}$$
(3.2.11)

where A(t), B(t) are the matrices of Lipschitz coefficients

$$A(t) = (a_{ij}(t))_{1 \le i,j \le n}, \quad B(t) = (b_{ij}(t))_{1 \le i,j \le n}.$$

Clearly $A \in L^{1}((0,1); \mathcal{M}_{n}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))$ and $B \in L^{p}((0,1); \mathcal{M}_{n}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))$.

Theorem 3.2.1 Let $f : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a Carathéodory function satisfying (3.2.11) and let $\alpha : C([0,1],\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be linear and continuous satisfying (3.1.6) and (3.1.9). If

the matrix
$$\left(\left| (I - \alpha [1])^{-1} \right| |\alpha| + I \right) |A|_{L^1(0,t_0)}$$
 is convergent to zero, (3.2.12)

then the problem (3.1.3) has a unique solution $u \in W^{1,1}((0,1);\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Denote by M_0 , the matrix

$$M_0 := \left| (I - \alpha [1])^{-1} \right| |\alpha| + I.$$
(3.2.13)

Example 3.2.2 Consider the nonlocal problem

$$\begin{cases} x' = a \sin x + by + g(t) \equiv f_1(t, x, y), \\ y' = \cos (cx + dy) + h(t) \equiv f_2(t, x, y), \\ x(0) = \frac{1}{4} \int_0^{t_0} (x(s) + y(s)) \, ds, \\ y(0) = \frac{1}{4} \int_0^{t_0} (x(s) + y(s)) \, ds, \end{cases}$$
(3.2.14)

where $t \in [0, 1]$, $a, b, c, d \in R$; $g, h \in L^1(0, 1)$ and $0 \le t_0 \le 1$. We have $\alpha_{ij}[1] = \frac{t_0}{4}$ and $|\alpha_{ij}| = \frac{t_0}{4}$ for $1 \le i, j \le 2$. Then

$$M_0 |A|_{L^1(0,t_0)} = \frac{t_0}{2(2-t_0)} \begin{bmatrix} (4-t_0) |a| + t_0 |c| & (4-t_0) |b| + t_0 |d| \\ t_0 |a| + (4-t_0) |c| & t_0 |b| + (4-t_0) |d| \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.2.15)

Therefore, if the matrix (3.2.15) is convergent to zero, then the problem (3.2.14) has a unique solution.

Particular cases: (a) if |a| = |c| and |b| = |d|, then

$$M_0 |A|_{L^1(0,t_0)} = \frac{2t_0}{2-t_0} \left[\begin{array}{cc} |a| & |b| \\ |a| & |b| \end{array} \right],$$

whose eigenvalues are $\lambda_1 = 0$ and $\lambda_2 = \frac{2t_0}{2-t_0} (|a| + |b|)$. Hence the matrix is convergent to zero if and only if

$$\frac{2t_0}{2-t_0}\left(|a|+|b|\right) < 1.$$

(b) if |a| = |d| and |b| = |c|, then

$$M_0 |A|_{L^1(0,t_0)} = \frac{t_0}{2(2-t_0)} \left[\begin{array}{cc} (4-t_0) |a| + t_0 |b| & t_0 |a| + (4-t_0) |b| \\ t_0 |a| + (4-t_0) |b| & (4-t_0) |a| + t_0 |b| \end{array} \right].$$

The eigenvalues are $\lambda_1 = t_0 \left(|a| - |b| \right)$, $\lambda_2 = \frac{2t_0}{2-t_0} \left(|a| + |b| \right)$. Since $|\lambda_1| \le \lambda_2$, the matrix is convergent to zero if and only if $\frac{2t_0}{2-t_0} \left(|a| + |b| \right) < 1$.

3.3 Existence. Nonlinearities with growth at most linear

We now assume that the functions $f_1, f_2, ..., f_n$ satisfy instead of Lipschitz conditions, the more relaxed conditions of growth at most linear

$$|f_{i}(t,u)| \leq \begin{cases} a_{i1}(t)|u_{1}| + \dots + a_{in}(t)|u_{n}| + \overline{a}_{i}(t), & \text{for } t \in [0,t_{0}], \\ b_{i1}(t)|u_{1}| + \dots + b_{in}(t)|u_{n}| + \overline{b}_{i}(t), & \text{for } t \in [t_{0},1], \end{cases}$$
(3.3.16)

for $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u = (u_1, u_2, ..., u_n)$ and some functions $a_{ij}, \overline{a}_i, \overline{b}_i \in L^1((0, 1); \mathbb{R}_+)$, $b_{ij} \in L^p((0, 1); \mathbb{R}_+)$ and $1 <math>(1 \le i, j \le n)$.

Using vector notations we can rewrite the condition (3.3.16) as follows:

$$\|f(t,u)\| \le \begin{cases} A(t) \|u\| + \overline{a}(t), & \text{for } t \in [0, t_0], \\ B(t) \|u\| + \overline{b}(t), & \text{for } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(3.3.17)

where A(t), B(t) are the matrices of coefficients $A(t) = (a_{ij}(t))_{1 \le i,j \le n}$, $B(t) = (b_{ij}(t))_{1 \le i,j \le n}$ and $\overline{a}(t)$, $\overline{b}(t)$ are the column matrices $\overline{a}(t) = (\overline{a}_i(t))_{1 \le i \le n}$, $\overline{b}(t) = (\overline{b}_i(t))_{1 \le i \le n}$. One has $A \in L^1((0,1); \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R}_+))$, $B \in L^p((0,1); \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R}_+))$ and $\overline{a}, \overline{b} \in L^1((0,1); \mathbb{R}^n_+)$.

Theorem 3.3.1 Let $f : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a Carathéodory function satisfying (3.3.17) and let $\alpha : C([0,1],\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be linear and continuous satisfying (3.1.6) and (3.1.9). If the condition (3.2.12) holds, then the problem (3.1.3) has at least one solution $u \in W^{1,1}((0,1);\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Example 3.3.2 Consider the nonlocal problem

$$\begin{cases} x' = ax \sin\left(\frac{y}{x}\right) + by \sin\left(\frac{x}{y}\right) + g(t) \equiv f_1(t, x, y), \\ y' = cx \sin\left(\frac{y}{x}\right) + dy \sin\left(\frac{x}{y}\right) + h(t) \equiv f_2(t, x, y), \\ x(0) = \frac{1}{4} \int_0^{t_0} (x(s) + y(s)) \, ds, \\ y(0) = \frac{1}{4} \int_0^{t_0} (x(s) + y(s)) \, ds, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.18)

where $t \in [0, 1]$, $a, b, c, d \in R$; $g, h \in L^1(0, 1)$ and $0 \le t_0 \le 1$. Since

$$|f_1(t, x, y)| \le |a| |x| + |b| |y| + |g(t)|, \qquad |f_2(t, x, y)| \le |c| |x| + |d| |y| + |h(t)|$$

we are under the assumptions from Section 3.3. Also, the matrix $M_0 |A|_{L^1(0,t_0)}$ is that from Example 3.2.2. Therefore, according to Theorem 3.3.1, if that matrix is convergent to zero, then the problem (3.3.18) has at least one solution. Note that the functions $f_1(t, x, y)$, $f_2(t, x, y)$ from this example do not satisfy Lipschitz conditions in x, y and consequently Theorem 3.2.1 does not apply.

3.4 Existence. Nonlinearities with a more general growth

We now assume that the nonlinearities $f_1, f_2, ..., f_n$ satisfy more general growth conditions, namely

$$|f_i(t,u)| \le \begin{cases} \omega_i(t, ||u||), & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0], \\ \beta(|u|)\gamma_i(t), & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(3.4.19)

for all $u = (u_1, u_2, ..., u_2) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ $(1 \le i \le n)$. Here ω_i are L^1 -Carathéodory functions on $[0, t_0] \times \mathbb{R}^n_+$, nondecreasing in their second argument, $\gamma_i \in L^1((t_0, 1); \mathbb{R}_+)$, while $\beta : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is nondecreasing and $1/\beta \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; here, the symbols |.|, ||.|| are used to denote the Euclidean norm and the vector-valued norm on \mathbb{R}^n , respectively.

Using vector notation, the condition (3.4.19) can be rewritten as follows:

$$\|f(t,u)\| \le \begin{cases} \omega(t, \|u\|), & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0], \\ \beta(|u|)\gamma(t), & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(3.4.20)

where $\omega(t, ||u||)$, $\gamma(t)$ are the column matrices $\omega(t, ||u||) = (\omega_i(t, ||u||))_{1 \le i \le n}$, $\gamma(t) = (\gamma_i(t))_{1 \le i \le n}$.

Theorem 3.4.1 Assume that the condition (3.4.20) holds. In addition assume that there exists a vector $R_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ and a number $R_1 > 0$ such that

if
$$\rho \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$$
 and $M_0 \int_0^{t_0} \omega(t,\rho) dt \ge \rho$, then $\rho \le R_0$ (3.4.21)

and

$$\int_{t_0}^{1} |\gamma(s)| \, ds = \int_{R_0^*}^{R_1} \frac{1}{\beta(\tau)} d\tau, \qquad (3.4.22)$$

where $R_0^* = \left| M_0 \int_0^{t_0} \omega(s, R_0) ds \right|$ and M_0 is given by (3.2.13). Then the problem (3.1.3) has at least one solution $u \in W^{1,1}((0, 1); \mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$||u||_{C[0,t_0]} \le R_0 \quad and \quad |u|_{C([t_0,1],\mathbb{R}^n)} \le R_1.$$
 (3.4.23)

Chapter 4

Existence results for second order three-point boundary value problems

4.1 Overview

This chapter is devoted to the study of second order differential equations and systems with nonlinear three point boundary conditions.

Motivated by paper E.V. Castelani and T. F. Ma [23], in Section 4.2, we study the three-point boundary value problem for second order differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} u'' = f(t, u, u'), & 0 < t < t_0 \\ u(0) = 0, u(t_0) = g(u(\eta)) \end{cases}$$
(4.1.1)

where $0 < \eta < t_0 < 1$ and f, g are continuous functions. Our tools here are Banach's and Schauder's fixed point theorems.

Then, in Section 4.3, we discuss differential systems of the type

$$\begin{cases} u''(t) = f(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ v''(t) = g(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ u(0) = 0, \ u(t_0) = \phi(u(\eta), v(\eta)) \\ v(0) = 0, \ v(t_0) = \psi(u(\eta), v(\eta)) \end{cases} \quad (0 < t < t_0)$$

by using Perov's and Schauder's fixed point theorems and the technique based on convergent to zero matrices and vector-valued norms.

Section 4.4 is devoted to the problem

$$\begin{cases} u'' = f(t, u, u'), & 0 < t < 1\\ u(0) = 0, & u(t_0) = g(u(\eta)). \end{cases}$$
(4.1.2)

Compared to problem (4.1.1), even if the three-boundary condition is the same, equation (4.1.2) is considered on the larger interval [0, 1] which allows us to combine the operator method with the technique based on Bielecki norm. Finally, in Section 4.5, a similar strategy is applied to a system of two second order differential equations.

4.2 Existence results for equations

Consider problem (4.1.1) with $f : [0, t_0] \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ and $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ continuous functions. Here are some hypotheses:

(H1) there exist a, b, c > 0 such that

$$\begin{cases} |f(t, u, v) - f(t, \overline{u}, \overline{v})| \le a |u - \overline{u}| + b |v - \overline{v}| \\ |g(u) - g(\overline{u})| \le c |u - \overline{u}|, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.1)$$

for $t \in [0, t_0]$ and $u, v, \overline{u}, \overline{v} \in \mathbb{R}$.

(H2) there exist $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \beta_1, \beta_2 > 0$ such that

$$|f(t, u, v)| \le \alpha_1 |u| + \alpha_2 |v| + \alpha_3 \text{ and } |g(u)| \le \beta_1 |u| + \beta_2,$$
 (4.2.2)

for $t \in [0, t_0]$ and $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$.

4.2.1 Application of Banach's contraction principle

We begin this section by pointing out that problem (4.1.1) can be written equivalently as

$$u(t) = \int_{0}^{t_0} G(t,s) f\left(s, u\left(s\right), u'(s)\right) ds + \frac{t}{t_0} g(u(\eta))$$
(4.2.3)

where G is the Green function for u''(t) = f(t) with $u(0) = u(t_0) = 0$, namely

$$G(t,s) = \begin{cases} -\frac{t(t_0-s)}{t_0}, & 0 \le t \le s \le t_0\\ -\frac{s(t_0-t)}{t_0}, & 0 \le s \le t \le t_0. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.4)

We observe that u is a solution of (4.1.1) if and only if u is a fixed point of the operator $T: C^1[0, t_0] \to C^1[0, t_0]$, defined by

$$(Tu)(t) = \int_{0}^{t_0} G(t,s) f\left(s, u\left(s\right), u'(s)\right) ds + \frac{t}{t_0} g(u(\eta)).$$
(4.2.5)

Theorem 4.2.1 If f, g satisfy (H1) with

$$\frac{a+b}{2}t_0 + \frac{c}{t_0} < 1, (4.2.6)$$

then problem (4.1.1) has a unique solution. Moreover, this solution can be obtained as limit of the sequence of successive approximations.

4.2.2 Application of Schauder's fixed point theorem

Under the weaker hypothesis (H2), we have the following existence result as a consequence of Schauder's fixed point theorem.

Theorem 4.2.2 Assume that (H2) holds with

$$\frac{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}{2} t_0 + \frac{\beta_1}{t_0} < 1. \tag{4.2.7}$$

Then problem (4.1.1) has at least one solution.

4.2.3 Application of Boyd-Wong's fixed point theorem

Theorem 4.2.3 (Boyd-Wong contraction principle) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and suppose $T: X \to X$ satisfies:

$$d(Tx, Ty) \le \Psi(d(x, y))$$
 for each $x, y \in X$,

where $\Psi : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty), 0 \leq \Psi(t) < t$ for t > 0 and Ψ is upper semicontinuous from the right, that is, $r_j \searrow r \geq 0$ implies $\limsup_{j\to\infty} \Psi(r_j) \leq \Psi(r)$. Then T has a unique fixed point x^* and $(T^n(x))$ converges to x^* for each $x \in X$.

In this section, instead of the Lipschitz condition on f from (H1), we shall consider more generally conditions of Boyd-Wong type, namely:

(H3) there exist $\psi_1, \psi_2: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ upper semicontinuous from the right and nondecreasing, and c > 0 such that

$$\begin{cases} |f(t, u, v) - f(t, \overline{u}, \overline{v})| \le \psi_1(|u - \overline{u}|) + \psi_2(|v - \overline{v}|) \\ |g(u) - g(\overline{u})| \le c |u - \overline{u}|, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.8)$$

for $t \in [0, t_0]$ and $u, \overline{u}, v, \overline{v} \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 4.2.4 If f, g satisfy satisfy (H3) and

$$\Psi(t) := \frac{t_0}{2}(\psi_1 + \psi_2)(t) + \frac{c}{t_0}t < t, \qquad (4.2.9)$$

for t > 0, then problem (4.1.1) has a unique solution. Moreover, this solution can be obtained as limit of the sequence of successive approximations.

4.3 Existence results for systems

We next deal with the three-point boundary value problem for second order differential systems of the type:

$$\begin{cases} u''(t) = f(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ v''(t) = g(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ u(0) = 0, \ u(t_0) = \phi(u(\eta), v(\eta)) \\ v(0) = 0, \ v(t_0) = \psi(u(\eta), v(\eta)), \end{cases} , \quad 0 < t < t_0$$

$$(4.3.10)$$

where $0 < \eta < t_0 < 1$ and f, g, ϕ and ψ are continuous functions.

This can be viewed as a fixed point problem in $C[0, t_0]^2$

$$\begin{cases} u = T_1(u, v) \\ v = T_2(u, v) \end{cases}$$

for a completely continuous operator $T = (T_1, T_2), T : C[0, t_0]^2 \to C[0, t_0]^2$ where T_1, T_2 are given by

$$T_1(u,v)(t) = \int_{0}^{t_0} G(t,s)f(s,u(s),v(s)) \, ds + \frac{t}{t_0}\phi(u(\eta),v(\eta))$$

$$T_2(u,v)(t) = \int_{0}^{t_0} G(t,s)g(s,u(s),v(s)) \, ds + \frac{t}{t_0}\psi(u(\eta),v(\eta)).$$

4.3.1 Nonlinearities with the Lipschitz property. Application of Perov's fixed point theorem

Here the existence of solutions to problem (4.3.10) is established by means of Perov's fixed point theorem. For this, we assume global Lipschitz conditions, that is

$$\begin{cases}
|f(t, u, v) - f(t, \overline{u}, \overline{v})| \leq a_1 |u - \overline{u}| + b_1 |v - \overline{v}| \\
|g(t, u, v) - g(t, \overline{u}, \overline{v})| \leq a_2 |u - \overline{u}| + b_2 |v - \overline{v}| \\
|\phi(u, v) - \phi(\overline{u}, \overline{v})| \leq c_1 |u - \overline{u}| + d_1 |v - \overline{v}| \\
|\psi(u, v) - \psi(\overline{u}, \overline{v})| \leq c_2 |u - \overline{u}| + d_2 |v - \overline{v}|,
\end{cases}$$

$$(4.3.11)$$

for $t \in [0, t_0]$, $u, v, \overline{u}, \overline{v} \in \mathbb{R}$ and some $a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2, c_1, d_1, c_2, d_2 \ge 0$.

Theorem 4.3.1 Assume that condition (4.3.11) holds. If the matrix

$$M := \begin{bmatrix} \frac{a_1}{8}t_0^2 + c_1 & \frac{b_1}{8}t_0^2 + d_1\\ \frac{a_2}{8}t_0^2 + c_2 & \frac{b_2}{8}t_0^2 + d_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.3.12)

is convergent to zero, then problem (4.3.10) has a unique solution in $C[0, t_0]^2$.

4.3.2 Nonlinearities with growth at most linear. Application of Schauder's fixed point theorem

Here the existence of solutions to problem (4.3.10) is established by means of Schauder's fixed point theorem in case that f, g satisfy instead of the Lipschitz condition the more relaxed condition of growth at most linear, that is

$$\begin{cases} |f(t, u, v)| \le a_1 |u| + b_1 |v| + c_1 \\ |g(t, u, v)| \le a_2 |u| + b_2 |v| + c_2 \\ |\phi(u, v)| \le a_{01} |u| + b_{01} |v| + c_{01} \\ |\psi(u, v)| \le a_{02} |u| + b_{02} |v| + c_{02}, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.3.13)$$

for all $t \in [0, t_0]$, $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$ and some $a_i, b_i, c_i, a_{0i}, b_{0i}, c_{0i} \ge 0, i = 1, 2$.

Theorem 4.3.2 If f, g, ϕ, ψ satisfy conditions (4.3.13) and the matrix

$$M := \begin{bmatrix} \frac{a_1}{8}t_0^2 + a_{01} & \frac{b_1}{8}t_0^2 + b_{01} \\ \frac{a_2}{8}t_0^2 + a_{02} & \frac{b_2}{8}t_0^2 + b_{02} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.3.14)

is convergent to zero, then problem (4.3.10) has at least one solution in $C[0, t_0]^2$.

4.4 Equations on a larger interval

We present existence results for the three-point boundary value problem:

$$\begin{cases} u'' = f(t, u, u') \\ u(0) = 0, u(t_0) = g(u(\eta)) \end{cases}, \quad 0 < t < 1$$
(4.4.15)

where $0 < t_0 < \eta < 1$ and f, g are continuous functions. Problem (4.4.15) could be splitted into two parts, one for the subinterval $[0, t_0]$ and the other one for $[t_0, 1]$. More exactly, we look for u such that

$$u(t) = \begin{cases} v(t), & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ w(t), & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1] \end{cases}$$

where v solves

$$\begin{cases} v'' = f(t, v, v') \\ v(0) = 0, v(t_0) = g(v(\eta)) \end{cases}, \quad 0 < t < t_0$$
(4.4.16)

while w is a solution of

$$\begin{cases} w'' = f(t, w, w') \\ w(t_0) = v(t_0) \\ w'(t_0) = v'(t_0). \end{cases}, \quad t_0 < t < 1$$
(4.4.17)

Problem (4.4.16) was already discussed in Section 4.2. Here we just point out that it is equivalent to a fixed point problem for the Fredholm type operator $T_F : C^1[0, t_0] \to C^1[0, t_0]$,

$$(T_F v)(t) = \int_0^{t_0} G(t, s) f(s, v(s), v'(s)) ds + \frac{t}{t_0} g(v(\eta)).$$

For (4.4.17) we construct a Volterra type integral operator $T_V: C^1[t_0, 1] \to C^1[t_0, 1]$ given by

$$(T_V w)(t) = v(t_0) + (t - t_0)v'(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t \int_{t_0}^{\sigma} f\left(s, w\left(s\right), w'(s)\right) ds d\sigma.$$
(4.4.18)

Notice that w solves (4.4.17) if and only if w is a fixed point of the operator T_V .

4.4.1 Application of Banach's contraction principle

We assume global Lipschitz conditions, that is the existence of $\tilde{a}_1, \tilde{b}_1 > 0$ such that

$$|f(t, u, v) - f(t, \overline{u}, \overline{v})| \le \widetilde{a}_1 |u - \overline{u}| + \widetilde{b}_1 |v - \overline{v}|, \qquad (4.4.19)$$

for all $t \in [t_0, 1]$ and $u, v, \overline{u}, \overline{v} \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 4.4.1 If f satisfies (4.4.19) for some numbers $\tilde{a}_1, \tilde{b}_1 > 0$, then problem (4.4.17) has a unique solution.

4.4.2 Application of Schauder's fixed point theorem

Assume that f satisfies more general conditions than (4.4.19), namely

$$|f(t, u, v)| \le \widetilde{\alpha}_1 |u| + \widetilde{\alpha}_2 |v| + \widetilde{\alpha}_3 \tag{4.4.20}$$

for all $t \in [t_0, 1]$ and $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$, where $\widetilde{\alpha}_1, \widetilde{\alpha}_2, \widetilde{\alpha}_3 \ge 0$.

Theorem 4.4.2 If the condition (4.4.20) holds for some numbers $\tilde{\alpha}_1, \tilde{\alpha}_2, \tilde{\alpha}_3 \geq 0$, then problem (4.4.17) has at least one solution.

Putting together the results from Section 4.2.1, Section 4.4.1 and the results from Section 4.2.2, Section 4.4.2 respectively, we obtain the following results for equations on the entire interval [0, 1]:

Theorem 4.4.3 If f, g satisfy (H1) with (4.2.6) and condition (4.4.19), then problem (4.4.15) has a unique solution on [0, 1].

Theorem 4.4.4 Assume that (H2) holds with (4.2.7). If, in addition, condition (4.4.20) holds, then problem (4.4.15) has at least one solution on [0, 1].

4.5 Systems on a larger interval

Here we consider the three point boundary value problems for second order differential systems of the type:

$$\begin{cases} u''(t) = f(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ v''(t) = g(t, u(t), v(t)) \\ u(0) = 0, \ u(t_0) = \phi(u(\eta), v(\eta)) \\ v(0) = 0, \ v(t_0) = \psi(u(\eta), v(\eta)), \end{cases}, \quad 0 < t < 1$$

$$(4.5.21)$$

where $0 < \eta < t_0 < 1$. These systems can be splitted into two parts, one for the subinterval $[0, t_0]$ and the other one for $[t_0, 1]$, respectively. A similar approach was given for equations in *Section 4.4*. Systems on $[0, t_0]$ were already discussed in *Section 4.3*.

It remains to be considered the system:

$$\begin{cases} x''(t) = f(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y''(t) = g(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ x(t_0) = u_0(t_0), \ x'(t_0) = u'_0(t_0) \\ y(t_0) = v_0(t_0), \ y'(t_0) = v'_0(t_0), \end{cases}, \quad t_0 \le t \le 1$$

$$(4.5.22)$$

where by (u_0, v_0) we mean the solution of (4.5.21) on the interval $[0, t_0]$.

This can be viewed as a fixed point problem in $C[t_0, 1]^2$ for the completely continuous operator $T = (T_1, T_2), T : C[t_0, 1]^2 \to C[t_0, 1]^2$, where

$$T_1(x,y)(t) = u_0(t_0) + (t-t_0)u'_0(t_0) + \int_{t_0t_0}^{t_0\sigma} f(s,x(s),y(s)) \, dsd\sigma,$$

$$T_2(x,y)(t) = v_0(t_0) + (t-t_0)v'_0(t_0) + \int_{t_0t_0}^{t_0\sigma} g(s,x(s),y(s)) \, dsd\sigma.$$

4.5.1 Nonlinearities with the Lipschitz property. Application of Perov's fixed point theorem

Here we prove that the existence of solutions to problem (4.5.22) by means of Perov's fixed point theorem. For this, we assume global Lipschitz conditions, that is the existence of numbers $\tilde{a}_1, \tilde{b}_1, \tilde{c}_1, \tilde{d}_1 > 0$ such that:

$$\begin{cases} |f(t,x,y) - f(t,x,y)| \leq \widetilde{a}_1 |x - \overline{x}| + \widetilde{b}_1 |y - \overline{y}| \\ |g(t,x,y) - g(t,x,y)| \leq \widetilde{c}_1 |x - \overline{x}| + \widetilde{d}_1 |y - \overline{y}|, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.5.23)$$

for $t \in [t_0, 1]$ and $x, y, \overline{x}, \overline{y} \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 4.5.1 If the conditions (4.5.23) hold, then problem (4.5.22) has a unique solution in $C[t_0, 1]^2$.

4.5.2 Nonlinearities with growth at most linear. Application of Schauder's fixed point theorem

Here we show that the existence of solutions to problem (4.5.22) is established by means of Schauder's fixed point theorem in case that f, g satisfy instead of the Lipschitz conditions, the more relaxed conditions of growth at most linear, that is

$$\begin{cases} |f(t, x, y)| \le \tilde{a}_1 |x| + \tilde{b}_1 |y| + \tilde{c}_1 \\ |g(t, x, y)| \le \tilde{a}_2 |x| + \tilde{b}_2 |y| + \tilde{c}_2, \end{cases}$$
(4.5.24)

for $t \in [t_0, 1]$; $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ and some $\widetilde{a}_i, \widetilde{b}_i, \widetilde{c}_i \ge 0, i = 1, 2$.

Theorem 4.5.2 If f, g satisfy conditions (4.5.24), then problem (4.5.22) has at least one solution in $C[t_0, 1]^2$.

Putting together the results from Section 4.3.1, Section 4.5.1 and the results from Section 4.3.2, Section 4.5.2 respectively, we obtain the following results for systems on the entire interval [0, 1]:

Theorem 4.5.3 Assume that conditions (4.3.11) and (4.5.23) hold. If the matrix (4.3.12) is convergent to zero, then problem (4.5.21) has a unique solution in $C[0,1]^2$.

Theorem 4.5.4 If f, g satisfy conditions (4.3.13) and (4.5.24) and if the matrix (4.3.14) is convergent to zero, then problem (4.5.21) has at least one solution in $C[0,1]^2$.

Chapter 5

Nonlinear nonlocal initial value problems

5.1 Overview

The purpose of the present chapter is to study the existence of solutions to initial value problems for first order differential systems with nonlinear nonlocal boundary conditions of functional type.

Therefore, we consider the nonlocal initial value problem for the first order differential system

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)), \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)), \\ x(0) = \alpha[x, y], \\ y(0) = \beta[x, y]. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.1)

Here, $f_1, f_2: [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are continuous functions and $\alpha, \beta: C[0,1]^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ are nonlinear continuous functionals.

Our approach is to rewrite the problem (5.1.1) as system of the form

$$x_{a} = \left(a + \int_{0}^{t} f_{1}\left(s, x\left(s\right), y\left(s\right)\right) ds, \ \alpha\left[x, y\right]\right),$$
$$y_{b} = \left(b + \int_{0}^{t} f_{2}\left(s, x\left(s\right), y\left(s\right)\right) ds, \ \beta\left[x, y\right]\right),$$

where by x_a, y_b we mean the pairs $(x, a), (y, b) \in C[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}$.

This, in turn, can be viewed as a fixed point problem in $(C[0,1] \times \mathbb{R})^2$ for the completely continuous operator

$$T = (T_1, T_2) : (C[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R})^2 \to (C[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R})^2,$$

where T_1 and T_2 are given by

$$T_{1}[x_{a}, y_{b}] = \left(a + \int_{0}^{t} f_{1}(s, x(s), y(s)) ds, \alpha[x, y]\right), T_{2}[x_{a}, y_{b}] = \left(b + \int_{0}^{t} f_{2}(s, x(s), y(s)) ds, \beta[x, y]\right).$$

In this chapter, by $|x|_C$, where $x \in C[0,1]$, we shall mean $|x|_C = \max_{t \in [0,1]} |x(t)|$.

5.2 Existence and uniqueness

In the present section we show that the existence of solutions to problem (5.1.1) follows from Perov's fixed point theorem in case that the nonlinearities f_1, f_2 and also the functionals α, β satisfy Lipschitz conditions of the type:

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t, x, y) - f_1(t, \overline{x}, \overline{y})| \le a_1 |x - \overline{x}| + b_1 |y - \overline{y}| \\ |f_2(t, x, y) - f_2(t, \overline{x}, \overline{y})| \le a_2 |x - \overline{x}| + b_2 |y - \overline{y}|, \end{cases}$$
(5.2.1)

for all $x, y, \overline{x}, \overline{y} \in \mathbb{R}$, and

$$\begin{cases} |\alpha [x, y] - \alpha [\overline{x}, \overline{y}]| \leq A_1 |x - \overline{x}|_C + B_1 |y - \overline{y}|_C \\ |\beta [x, y] - \beta [\overline{x}, \overline{y}]| \leq A_2 |x - \overline{x}|_C + B_2 |y - \overline{y}|_C, \end{cases}$$
(5.2.2)

for all $x, y, \overline{x}, \overline{y} \in C[0, 1]$.

For a given number $\theta > 0$, denote

$$m_{11}(\theta) = \max\left\{\frac{1}{\theta}, a_1 + \theta A_1\right\}, \quad m_{12}(\theta) = b_1 + \theta B_1, m_{21}(\theta) = a_2 + \theta A_2, \qquad m_{22}(\theta) = \max\left\{\frac{1}{\theta}, b_2 + \theta B_2\right\}.$$

Theorem 5.2.1 If f_1, f_2 satisfy the Lipschitz conditions (5.2.1), α, β satisfy conditions (5.2.2). In addition assume that for some $\theta > 0$, the matrix

$$M_{\theta} = \begin{bmatrix} m_{11}(\theta) & m_{12}(\theta) \\ m_{21}(\theta) & m_{22}(\theta) \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.2.3)

is convergent to zero. Then the problem (5.1.1) has a unique solution.

Example 5.2.2 Consider the nonlocal problem

$$\begin{cases} x' = \frac{1}{4}\sin x + ay + g(t) \equiv f_1(t, x, y), \\ y' = \cos\left(ax + \frac{1}{4}y\right) + h(t) \equiv f_2(t, x, y), \\ x(0) = \frac{1}{8}\sin\left(x\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) + y\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)\right), \\ y(0) = \frac{1}{8}\cos\left(x\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) + y\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)\right), \end{cases}$$
(5.2.4)

where $t \in [0, 1]$, $a \in R$ and $g, h \in L^1(0, 1)$. We have $a_1 = 1/4$, $b_1 = |a|$, $a_2 = |a|$, $b_2 = 1/4$ and $A_1 = B_1 = A_2 = B_2 = 1/8$. Consider $\theta = 2$. Hence

$$M_{\theta} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & |a| + \frac{1}{4} \\ |a| + \frac{1}{4} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (5.2.5)

Since the eigenvalues of M_{θ} are $\lambda_1 = -|a| + \frac{1}{4}$, $\lambda_2 = |a| + \frac{3}{4}$, the matrix (5.2.5) is convergent to zero if $|\lambda_1| < 1$ and $|\lambda_2| < 1$. It is also known that a matrix of this type is convergent to zero if $|a| + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2} < 1$ (see R. Precup [65]). Therefore, if $|a| < \frac{1}{4}$, the matrix (5.2.5) is convergent to zero and from Theorem 5.2.1 the problem (5.2.4) has a unique solution.

5.3 Existence results

In the beginnig of this section, we give an application of Schauder's fixed point theorem. More exactly, we show that the existence of solutions to the problem (5.1.1) follows from Schauder's fixed point theorem in case that f_1, f_2 and also functionals α, β satisfy some relaxed growth conditions of the type:

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t, x, y)| \le a_1 |x| + b_1 |y| + c_1, \\ |f_2(t, x, y)| \le a_2 |x| + b_2 |y| + c_2, \end{cases}$$
(5.3.1)

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$, and

$$\begin{cases} |\alpha [x, y]| \le A_1 |x|_C + B_1 |y|_C + C_1, \\ |\beta [x, y]| \le A_2 |x|_C + B_2 |y|_C + C_2, \end{cases}$$
(5.3.2)

for all $x, y \in C[0, 1]$.

Theorem 5.3.1 If the conditions (5.3.1), (5.3.2) hold and the matrix (5.2.3) is convergent to zero for some $\theta > 0$, then the problem (5.1.1) has at least one solution.

We shall give another numerical example for the above existence result.

Example 5.3.2 Consider the nonlocal problem

$$\begin{cases} x' = \frac{1}{4}x\sin\left(\frac{y}{x}\right) + ay\sin\left(\frac{x}{y}\right) + g(t) \equiv f_1(t, x, y), \\ y' = ax\sin\left(\frac{y}{x}\right) + \frac{1}{4}y\sin\left(\frac{x}{y}\right) + h(t) \equiv f_2(t, x, y), \\ x(0) = \frac{1}{8}\sin\left(x\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) + y\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)\right), \\ y(0) = \frac{1}{8}\cos\left(x\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) + y\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)\right), \end{cases}$$
(5.3.3)

where $t \in [0, 1]$, $a \in R$ and $g, h \in L^1(0, 1)$. Since

$$|f_1(t, x, y)| \le \frac{1}{4} |x| + |a| |y| + |g(t)|, \qquad |f_2(t, x, y)| \le |a| |x| + \frac{1}{4} |y| + |h(t)|$$

we are under the assumptions from the first part of Section 5.3. Also, the matrix M_{θ} is that from Example 5.2.2 if we consider $\theta = 2$. Therefore, according to Theorem 5.3.1, if that matrix is convergent to zero, then the problem (5.3.3) has at least one solution. Note that the functions $f_1(t, x, y)$, $f_2(t, x, y)$ from this example do not satisfy Lipschitz conditions in x, y and consequently Theorem 5.2.1 does not apply.

In what follows, we give an application of the Leray-Schauder Principle and we assume that the nonlinearities f_1, f_2 and also the nonlinear functionals α, β satisfy more general growth conditions, namely:

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t, x, y)| \le \omega_1(t, |x|, |y|), \\ |f_2(t, x, y)| \le \omega_2(t, |x|, |y|), \end{cases}$$
(5.3.4)

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\begin{cases} |\alpha[x,y]| \le \omega_3(|x|_C,|y|_C), \\ |\beta[x,y]| \le \omega_4(|x|_C,|y|_C), \end{cases}$$
(5.3.5)

for all $x, y \in C[0, 1]$. Here ω_1, ω_2 are L^1 -Carathéodory functions on $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^2_+$, nondecreasing in their second and third arguments, and ω_3, ω_4 are continuous functions on \mathbb{R}^2_+ , nondecreasing in both variables.

Theorem 5.3.3 Assume that the conditions (5.3.4), (5.3.5) hold. In addition assume that there exists $R_0 = (R_0^1, R_0^2) \in (0, \infty)^2$ such that for $\rho = (\rho_1, \rho_2) \in (0, \infty)^2$

$$\begin{cases} \int_{0}^{1} \omega_{1}(s,\rho_{1},\rho_{2})ds + \omega_{3}(\rho_{1},\rho_{2}) \ge \rho_{1} \\ \int_{0}^{1} \omega_{2}(s,\rho_{1},\rho_{2})ds + \omega_{4}(\rho_{1},\rho_{2}) \ge \rho_{2} \end{cases} \quad implies \quad \rho \le R_{0}. \tag{5.3.6}$$

Then the problem (5.1.1) has at least one solution.

Chapter 6

Impulsive systems with nonlocal initial conditions

6.1 Overview

In this chapter we deal with a system of first order differential equations with impulsive terms subject to nonlocal initial value conditions, namely

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f_1(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ y'(t) = f_2(t, x(t), y(t)) \\ \Delta x|_{t=t_0} = I_1(x(t_0)), \quad \Delta y|_{t=t_0} = I_2(y(t_0)), \\ x(0) = \alpha_1[x], \qquad y(0) = \alpha_2[y]. \end{cases} \quad t \in (0, 1), \ t \neq t_0, \tag{6.1.1}$$

Here $\Delta v|_{t=t_0}$ denotes the "jump" of the function v in $t = t_0$, that is $\Delta v|_{t=t_0} = v(t_0^+) - vt_0^-)$, where $v(t_0^-), v(t_0^+)$ are the left and the right limits of v in $t = t_0$ and α_i , i = 1, 2 are linear continuous functionals on C[0, 1] which satisfy the condition (2.3.14).

We rewrite the system (6.1.1) as a system of integral equations

$$\begin{cases} x(t) = \frac{1}{1 - \alpha_1[1]} \alpha_1[g_1] + g_1(x, y)(t) + G_1(x)(t), \\ y(t) = \frac{1}{1 - \alpha_2[1]} \alpha_2[g_2] + g_2(x, y)(t) + G_2(y)(t), \end{cases}$$
(6.1.2)

where the terms G_i take into account the impulsive effect.

Also, we shall benefit of a careful decomposition similar to the one proposed in A. Boucherif and R. Precup [17] and later used in O. Nica and R. Precup [52], O. Nica [53], also presented in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3. This is the first time that this approach is used in the context of nonlocal impulsive systems.

6.2 An existence and uniqueness result

We work in the Banach space $PC_{t_0}[0,1]^2$, where

$$PC_{t_0}[0,1] := \{ x : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R} | , x \text{ is continuous for } t \in [0,1] \setminus \{t_0\},$$

there exist $x(t_0^-) = x(t_0) \text{ and } |x(t_0^+)| < \infty \}.$

Solving (6.1.1), equivalently (6.1.2), reduces to the existence of a fixed point of the operator

$$T = T_F + T_V + G, (6.2.3)$$

where

$$T_F(x,y)(t) = \begin{pmatrix} T_{F_1}(x,y)(t) \\ T_{F_2}(x,y)(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad T_V(x,y)(t) = \begin{pmatrix} T_{V_1}(x,y)(t) \\ T_{V_2}(x,y)(t) \end{pmatrix},$$

with for i = 1, 2

$$T_{F_i}(x,y)(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{1-\alpha_i[1]} \alpha_i[g_i] + \int_0^t f_i(s, x(s), y(s)) \, ds, & \text{if } t < t_0, \\ \frac{1}{1-\alpha_i[1]} \alpha_i[g_i] + \int_0^{t_0} f_i(s, x(s), y(s)) \, ds, & \text{if } t \ge t_0, \end{cases}$$
$$T_{V_i}(x,y)(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } t < t_0, \\ \int_{t_0}^t f_i(s, x(s), y(s)) \, ds, & \text{if } t \ge t_0, \end{cases}$$

and

$$G(x,y)(t) = \begin{pmatrix} G_1(x)(t) \\ G_2(y)(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad G_i(v)(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } t \le t_0, \\ I_i(v(t_0)), & \text{if } t > t_0. \end{cases}$$

First, by means of the fixed point theorem of Perov, we obtain an existence and uniqueness result, provided that f_1, f_2 and also the impulsive terms I_i satisfy the Lipschitz conditions

$$|f_1(t, x, y) - f_1(t, \overline{x}, \overline{y})| \le \begin{cases} a_1 |x - \overline{x}| + b_1 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ a_2 |x - \overline{x}| + b_2 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(6.2.4)

$$|f_2(t, x, y) - f_2(t, \overline{x}, \overline{y})| \le \begin{cases} A_1 |x - \overline{x}| + B_1 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ A_2 |x - \overline{x}| + B_2 |y - \overline{y}|, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(6.2.5)

and also

$$|I_i(v) - I_i(\overline{v})| \le d_i |v - \overline{v}|, \text{ for } i = 1, 2,$$

$$(6.2.6)$$

for all $x, y, \overline{x}, \overline{y}, v, \overline{v} \in \mathbb{R}$.

In what follows we denote by

$$\begin{aligned} A_{\alpha_i} &:= \frac{\|\alpha_i\|}{|1-\alpha_i[1]|} + 1, \, i = 1, 2. \\ M &:= t_0 \begin{bmatrix} a_1 \left(\frac{\|\alpha_1\|}{|1-\alpha_1[1]|} + 1\right) & b_1 \left(\frac{\|\alpha_1\|}{|1-\alpha_1[1]|} + 1\right) \\ A_1 \left(\frac{\|\alpha_2\|}{|1-\alpha_2[1]|} + 1\right) & B_1 \left(\frac{\|\alpha_2\|}{|1-\alpha_2[1]|} + 1\right) \end{bmatrix}, \quad M_I := \begin{bmatrix} d_1 & 0 \\ 0 & d_2 \end{bmatrix} \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 6.2.1 If the conditions (6.2.4), (6.2.5), (6.2.6) hold and the matrix

$$M_0 := M + M_I \tag{6.2.7}$$

is convergent to zero, then the problem (6.1.1) has a unique solution.

Example 6.2.2 We present a modified version of Example 2.2 in R. Precup and D. Trif [66] that takes into account systems and impulsive effects. Consider the initial value

problem

$$\begin{cases} x' = \frac{1}{2}y \left[1 + e^{-\frac{4}{5}(x-1)} \right]^{-1} \equiv f_1(x,y), \\ y' = \frac{1}{10}x \left[1 + e^{-\frac{2}{5}(y-1)} \right]^{-1} \equiv f_2(x,y), \\ \Delta x|_{t=\frac{3}{4}} = \frac{1}{3}\cos\left(x\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)\right), \qquad \Delta y|_{t=\frac{3}{4}} = \frac{1}{5}\sin\left(y\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)\right), \\ x(0) = \frac{1}{2}\int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} x(s)ds, \qquad y(0) = \frac{1}{2}\int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} y(s)ds. \end{cases}$$
(6.2.8)

Here we have that matrix

$$M_0 = \frac{1}{15} \left(\begin{array}{cc} 6 & 5\\ 1 & 4 \end{array} \right)$$

is convergent to zero since its eigenvalues satisfy $\lambda_1 = 0.17 < 1, \lambda_2 = 0.5 < 1$. From Theorem 6.2.1, the problem (6.2.8) has a unique solution.

6.3 An existence result

We now show that the existence of solutions for the problem (6.1.1) follows from Schauder's fixed point theorem when f_1, f_2 satisfy some growth conditions of the type: there exist nonnegative coefficients $a_i, b_i, c_i, A_i, B_i, C_i$ such that

$$|f_1(t, x, y)| \le \begin{cases} a_1 |x| + b_1 |y| + c_1, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ a_2 |x| + b_2 |y| + c_2, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(6.3.9)

$$|f_2(t, x, y)| \le \begin{cases} A_1 |x| + B_1 |y| + C_1, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0] \\ A_2 |x| + B_2 |y| + C_2, & \text{if } t \in [t_0, 1], \end{cases}$$
(6.3.10)

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$.

We also assume that the impulses satisfy the growth conditions, i.e. there exist $d_i, e_i \in [0, \infty)$ such that for every $v \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$|I_i(v)| \le d_i |v| + e_i, \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$
 (6.3.11)

Theorem 6.3.1 If the conditions (6.3.9), (6.3.10), (6.3.11) are satisfied and the matrix (6.2.7) is convergent to zero, then the problem (6.1.1) has at least one solution.

Example 6.3.2 Consider the initial value problem

$$\begin{aligned}
x' &= \frac{1}{4}x\sin\left(\frac{y}{x}\right) + \frac{1}{3}y\sin\left(\frac{x}{y}\right) + g(t) \equiv f_1(t, x, y), \\
y' &= \frac{1}{3}x\sin\left(\frac{y}{x}\right) + \frac{1}{6}y\sin\left(\frac{x}{y}\right) + h(t) \equiv f_2(t, x, y), \\
\Delta x|_{x=\frac{3}{4}} &= \frac{1}{3}\sin\left(x\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)\right), \qquad \Delta y|_{y=\frac{3}{4}} = \frac{1}{4}\cos\left(y\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)\right), \quad t \in [0, 1] \quad (6.3.12) \\
\chi(0) &= \frac{1}{2}\int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} x(s)ds, \qquad y(0) = \frac{1}{2}\int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} y(s)ds,
\end{aligned}$$

where $g, h \in L^1(0, 1)$. We obtain

$$M_0 = \frac{1}{36} \left(\begin{array}{cc} 18 & 8 \\ 8 & 13 \end{array} \right),$$

which is convergent to zero because its eigenvalues (rounded to the third decimal place) are $|\lambda_1| = 0.485 < 1, |\lambda_2| = 0.237 < 1$. From Theorem 6.3.1, the problem (6.3.12) has at least one solution.

Bibliography

- R. P. Agarwal, M. Meehan and D. O'Regan, *Fixed Point Theory and Applications*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2001.
- [2] R. P. Agarwal, D. O'Regan and S. Stanĕk, General existence principles for nonlocal boundary value problems with φ-Laplacian and their applications, Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2006 (2006), Article ID 96826, 30 pages.
- [3] S. Aizicovici and Y. Gao, Functional differential equations with nonlocal initial conditions, J. Appl. Math. Stochastic Anal. 10 (1997), 145-156.
- [4] S. Aizicovici and H. Lee, Nonlinear nonlocal Cauchy problems in Banach spaces, Appl. Math. Lett. 18 (2005), 401-407.
- [5] S. Aizicovici and M. McKibben, Existence results for a class of abstract nonlocal Cauchy problems, Nonlinear Anal. 39 (2000), 649-668.
- [6] D. Baĭnov and P. Simeonov, Impulsive Differential Equations: Periodic Solutions and Applications, Pitman Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics, 66, Longman Scientific & Technical, New York, 1993.
- [7] M. Benchohra and A. Boucherif, On first order multivalued initial and periodic value problems, Dynam. Systems Appl. 9 (2000), 559-568.
- [8] M. Benchohra, E. P. Gatsori, L. Gorniewicz and S. K. Ntouyas, Nondensely defined evolution impulsive differential equations with nonlocal conditions, Fixed Point Theory 4 (2003), 185-204.
- [9] M. Benchohra, J. Henderson and S. Ntouyas, *Impulsive Differential Equations and Inclusions*, Contemporary Mathematics and Its Applications, Volume 2, Hindawi Publishing Corporation, New York, 2006.
- [10] A. Berman and R. J. Plemmons, Nonnegative Matrices in the Mathematical Sciences, SIAM, Philadelphia, 1994.
- [11] O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and R. Precup, Existence results for systems with coupled nonlocal initial conditions, Nonlinear Anal. 94 (2014), 231-242.
- [12] O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and P. Pietramala, *Existence results for impulsive systems* with initial nonlocal conditions, Math. Model. Anal., to appear.
- [13] O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and R. Precup, Existence results for systems with coupled nonlocal nonlinear initial conditions, submitted.

- [14] A. Boucherif, Differential equations with nonlocal boundary conditions, Nonlinear Anal. 47 (2001), 2419-2430.
- [15] A. Boucherif, First-order differential inclusions with nonlocal initial conditions, Appl. Math. Letters 15 (2002), 409-414.
- [16] A. Boucherif, Nonlocal Cauchy problems for first-order multivalued differential equations, Electron. J. Differential Equations 2012 (2012), No. 47, 1-9.
- [17] A. Boucherif and R. Precup, On the nonlocal initial value problem for first order differential equations, Fixed Point Theory 4 (2003), 205-212.
- [18] A. Boucherif and R. Precup, Semilinear evolution equations with nonlocal initial conditions, Dynamic Systems Appl. 16 (2007), 507-516.
- [19] L. Byszewski, Theorems about the existence and uniqueness of solutions of a semilinear evolution nonlocal Cauchy problem, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 162 (1991), 494-505.
- [20] L. Byszewski, Abstract nonlinear nonlocal problems and their physical interpretation, in "Biomathematics, Bioinformatics and Applications of Functional Differential Difference Equations", H.Akca, V.Covachev and E. Litsyn Eds., Akdeniz Univ. Publ., Antalya, Turkey, 1999.
- [21] L. Byszewski and V. Lakshmikantham, Theorem about the existence and uniqueness of a solution of a nonlocal abstract Cauchy problem in a Banach space, Appl. Anal. 40 (1990), 11-19.
- [22] A. Cabada, An overview of the lower and upper solutions method with nonlinear boundary value conditions, Bound. Value Probl. (2011), Art. ID 893753, 18 pp.
- [23] E. V. Castelani and T. F. Ma, Numerical solutions for a second order three-point boundary value problem, Communications in Applied Analysis 11 (1) (2007), 87-95.
- [24] S. H. Chen, T. Hu, L. Chen, et al., Existence results for n-point boundary value problem of second order ordinary differential equations, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 180 (2005), 425-432.
- [25] J. Dugundji and A. Granas, Fixed Point Theory, Monografie Matematyczne, PWN, Warsaw, 1982.
- [26] M. Eggensperger and N. Kosmatov, A higher-order nonlocal boundary value problem, Int. J. Appl. Math. Sci. 2 (2) (2005), 196-206.
- [27] A. M. A. El-Sayed and E. O. Bin-Taher, Positive nondecreasing solutions for a multiterm fractional-order differential equation with integral conditions, Electron. J. Differential Equations 2011 (166) (2011), 1-8.
- [28] D. Franco and D. O'Regan, Existence of solutions to second order problems with nonlinear boundary conditions, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. (Suppl.) (2005), 273-280.
- [29] C. S. Goodrich, On nonlocal BVPs with nonlinear boundary conditions with asymptotically sublinear or superlinear growth, Math. Nachr. 285 (2012), 1404-1421.

- [30] C. S. Goodrich, On nonlinear boundary conditions satisfying certain asymptotic behavior, Nonlinear Anal. 76 (2013), 58-67.
- [31] A. Granas and J. Dugundji, *Fixed Point Theory*, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2003.
- [32] D. Guo, V. Lakshmikanthan and X. Lin, Nonlinear Integral Equations in Abstract Spaces, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, 1996.
- [33] C. P. Gupta, S. K. Ntouyas and P. Ch. Tsamatos, On an m-point boundary value problem for second order ordinary differential equations, Nonlinear Anal. TMA. 23 (11) (1994), 1427-1436.
- [34] H. -K. Han and J. -Y. Park, Boundary controllability of differential equations with nonlocal conditions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 230 (1999), 242-250.
- [35] G. Infante, Positive solutions of nonlocal boundary value problems with singularities, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Supplement (2009), 377-384.
- [36] G. Infante, F. M. Minhós and P. Pietramala, Non-negative solutions of systems of ODEs with coupled boundary conditions, Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul. 17 (2012), 4952-4960.
- [37] G. Infante and P. Pietramala, Eigenvalues and non-negative solutions of a system with nonlocal BCs, Nonlinear Stud. 16 (2009), 187-196.
- [38] G. Infante and P. Pietramala, Existence and multiplicity of non-negative solutions for systems of perturbed Hammerstein integral equations, Nonlinear Anal. 71 (2009), 1301-1310.
- [39] G. Infante and P. Pietramala, *Multiple positive solutions of systems with coupled nonlinear BCs*, Math. Methods Appl. Sci., to appear.
- [40] G. Infante and J. R. L. Webb, Loss of positivity in a nonlinear scalar heat equation, NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl. 13 (2006), 249-261.
- [41] D. Jackson, Existence and uniqueness of solutions to semilinear nonlocal parabolic equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 172 (1993), 256-265.
- [42] G. L. Karakostas and P. Ch. Tsamatos, Existence of multiple positive solutions for a nonlocal boundary value problem, Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal. 19 (2002), 109-121.
- [43] V. Lakshmikantham and S. Leela, Nonlinear Differential Equations in Abstract Spaces, Pergamon, Oxford, 1981.
- [44] V. Lakshmikantham, D. D. Baĭnov and P. S. Simeonov, Theory of Impulsive Differential Equations, Series in Modern Applied Mathematics, 6, World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., Teaneck, NJ, 1989.
- [45] H. C. Lee, Analysis of some nonlocal boundary value problems associated with feedback control, Bull. Korean Math. Soc. 35 (1998), 325-338.
- [46] J. Liang, J. Liu and T. -J. Xiao, Nonlocal Cauchy problems governed by compact operators families, Nonlinear Anal. 57 (2004), 183-189.

- [47] J. H. Liu, A remark on the mild solutions of non-local evolution equations, Semigroup Forum 66 (2003), 63-67.
- [48] R. Ma, Positive solutions for a nonlinear three-point boundary value problem, Electron. J. Differential Equations Appl. Math. Comput. 34 (1999), 1-8.
- [49] R. Ma, Existence of solutions of nonlinear m-point boundary value problem, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 256 (2001), 556-567.
- [50] R. Ma, A survey on nonlocal boundary value problems, Appl. Math. E-Notes 7 (2001), 257-279.
- [51] S. Mureşan and O. Nica, Comparing two integral operators in the approach of Cauchy problems, Annals of Oradea University, Fascicola Mathematica, Tom. XIX (2012), 197-205.
- [52] O. Nica and R. Precup, On the nonlocal initial value problem for first order differential systems, Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 56 (2011), No. 3, 125-137.
- [53] O. Nica, Initial-value problems for first-order differential systems with general nonlocal conditions, Electron. J. Differential Equations 2012 (2012), No. 74, 1-15.
- [54] O. Nica, Existence results for second order three-point boundary value problems, Differ. Equ. Appl. 4 (2012), 547-570.
- [55] O. Nica, Nonlocal initial value problems for first order differential systems, Fixed Point Theory 13 (2012), 603-612.
- [56] O. Nica, A fixed point approach to first order differential equations and systems, Ann. Tiberiu Popoviciu Semin. Funct. Equ. Approx. Convexity 10 (2012), 141-153.
- [57] O. Nica, Extensions of the Leray-Schauder Principle for integral systems, An. Univ. Oradea Fasc. Mat. 9 (2012), No. 2, 63-81.
- [58] S. K. Ntouyas and P. Ch. Tsamatos, Global existence for semilinear evolution equations with nonlocal conditions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 210 (1997), 679-687.
- [59] S. K. Ntouyas, Nonlocal initial and boundary value problems: a survey, Handbook of differential equations: ordinary differential equations. Vol. II, Elsevier B. V., Amsterdam, 2005, 461-557.
- [60] D. O'Regan and R. Precup, Theorems of Leray-Schauder Type and Applications, Gordon and Breach, Amsterdam, 2001.
- [61] J. M. Ortega and W. C. Rheinboldt, Iterative Solution of Nonlinear Equations in Several Variables, Academic Press, New York, 1970.
- [62] P. Pietramala, A note on a beam equation with nonlinear boundary conditions, Bound. Value Probl. (2011), Art. ID 376782, 14 pp.
- [63] A. I. Perov, On Cauchy problem for a system of ordinary differential equations, Pviblizhen.Met. Reshen. Differ. Uvavn., 2 (1964), 115-134.

- [64] R. Precup, Methods in Nonlinear Integral Equations, Kluwer, Dordrecht-Boston-London, 2002.
- [65] R. Precup, The role of matrices that are convergent to zero in the study of semilinear operator systems, Math. Comp. Modelling 49 (2009), 703-708.
- [66] R. Precup and D. Trif, Multiple positive solutions of non-local initial value problems for first order differential systems, Nonlinear Anal. 75 (2012), 5961–5970.
- [67] F. Robert, Matrices non-negatives et normes vectorielles, Université Scientifique et Médicale, Lyon, 1973.
- [68] I. A. Rus, Generalized contractions and applications, Cluj University Press, Cluj-Napoca, 2001.
- [69] I. A. Rus, A. Petruşel and G. Petruşel, *Fixed Point Theory*, Cluj University Press, Cluj-Napoca, 2008.
- [70] A. M. Samoilenko and N. A. Perestyuk, *Impulsive differential equations*, World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1995.
- [71] S. Stanĕk, Existence principles for singular vector nonlocal boundary value problems with φ-Laplacian and their applications, Acta Univ. Palack. Olomuc. Fac. Rerum Natur. Math. 50 (2011), 99-118.
- [72] R. S. Varga, *Matrix Iterative Analysis, Second Edition*, Springer, Berlin, 2000.
- [73] A. Viorel, Contributions to the study of nonlinear evolution equations, PhD Thesis, Babeş-Bolyai University, Cluj-Napoca, 2011.
- [74] J. R. L. Webb, A unified approach to nonlocal boundary value problems, Dynamic systems and applications. Vol. 5. Proceedings of the 5th international conference, Morehouse College, Atlanta, GA, USA, May 30-June 2, 2007, 510-515.
- [75] J. R. L. Webb and G. Infante, Positive solutions of nonlocal initial boundary value problems involving integral conditions, Nonlinear Diff. Eqn. Appl. 15 (2008), 45-67.
- [76] J. R. L. Webb and G. Infante, Non-local boundary value problems of arbitrary order, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 79 (2009), 238-258.
- [77] J. R. L. Webb and G. Infante, Positive solutions of nonlocal boundary value problems: a unified approach, J. London Math. Soc. 74 (2006), 673-693.
- [78] J. R. L. Webb and G. Infante, Semi-positone nonlocal boundary value problems of arbitrary order, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 9 (2) (2010), 563-581.
- [79] J. R. L. Webb and K. Q. Lan, Eigenvalue criteria for existence of multiple positive solutions of nonlinear boundary value problems of local and nonlocal type, Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal. 27 (2006), 91-115.
- [80] J. R. L. Webb, G. Infante, D. Franco, Positive solutions of nonlinear fourth-order boundary-value problems with local and non-local boundary conditions, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 138 (2008), 427-446.

- [81] X. Xue, Existence of solutions for semilinear nonlocal Cauchy problems in Banach spaces, Electron. J. Differential Equations 2005 (2005), No. 64, 1-7.
- [82] X. M. Xue, Existence of semilinear differential equations with nonlocal initial conditions, Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.) 23 (6) (2007), 983-988.
- [83] Z. Yang, Positive solutions to a system of second-order nonlocal boundary value problems, Nonlinear Anal. 62 (2005), 1251-1265.